Charles University in Prague

1st Faculty of Medicine

Program: Molecular and Cellular Biology, Genetics and Virology



Martin Košař

Mechanisms of replicative, drug- and oncogene-induced cellular senescence

PhD Thesis

The Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Institute of Molecular Genetics Laboratory of Genome Integrity

Supervisor: Prof. Jiří Bártek, M.D., C.Sc. Dr.h.c.

Consultant: Zdeněk Hodný, M.D., Ph.D.

Prague, 2013

Declaration:

I, Martin Košař, hereby declare that this Ph.D. thesis entitled 'Mechanisms of replicative, drug- and oncogene-induced cellular senescence' has been compiled by me under the supervision of Prof. Jiří Bártek, M.D., C.Sc. Dr.h.c. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma.

I also undertake that any quotation or paraphrase from the published or unpublished work of another person has been duly acknowledged.

Prohlášení:

Prohlašuji, že jsem závěrečnou práci zpracoval samostatně a že jsem řádně uvedl a citoval všechny použité prameny a literaturu. Současně prohlašuji, že práce nebyla využita k získání jiného nebo stejného titulu.

Souhlasím s trvalým uložením elektronické verze mé práce v databázi systému meziuniverzitního projektu Theses.cz za účelem soustavné kontroly podobnosti kvalifikačních prací.

V Praze/In Prague, 12.12.2013

Martin Košař Podpis/Signature:

Identifikační záznam:

KOŠAŘ, Martin. *Mechanismy replikativní, chemicky a onkogeny indukované buněčné senescence. [Mechanims of replicative, drug- and oncogene-induced cellular senescence].* Praha, 2013. 114 s. Disertační práce (Ph.D.). Univerzita Karlova v Praze, 1. lékařská fakulta; Akademie věd České republiky, Ústav molekulární genetiky. Vedoucí práce Bártek, Jiří.

Acknowledgements:

I am sincerely grateful to my advisor Prof. Jiří Bártek, M.D., C.Sc., Dr.h.c. for giving me the opportunity to work in his laboratory, for the guidance, constructive discussions, and continuous support during my Ph.D.

I am also thankful to my consultant Zdeněk Hodný, M.D., Ph.D. for scientific support and to my colleagues Matthias Altmeyer, Robert Strauss, Apolinar Maya-Mendoza and Soňa Hubáčková for scientific discussions and creating a friendly environment in the laboratory.

Finally yet importantly, my sincere thanks also go to my family.

ABSTRACT

Cells continuously experience various forms of exogenous and endogenous stress stimuli. Cellular senescence, a state of permanent cell-cycle arrest, is a physiological response that prevents proliferation of damaged cells. It is an important tumor suppressive mechanism, because evading senescence in pre-malignant tumors leads to cancer progression. However, in the long term, senescence can also contribute to tissue aging. Our understanding of the causes and consequences of senescence can provide important insights into processes such as cancer development and aging and may help us design new therapeutic approaches.

In the first part of my thesis, we investigated a relationship between two known tumor suppressor pathways, the DNA Damage Response (DDR) and the Alternative Reading Frame (ARF), in response to oncogenic insults. By using several mouse models, human clinical samples and cell culture models we showed, that ARF activation occurs at a later stage of tumor progression than activation of the DDR. Moreover, ARF activation requires a higher level (threshold) of oncogenic stress than DDR. Therefore, we proposed, that ARF represents a delayed and complementary barrier to tumor progression.

Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF) formation, representing pronounced changes in chromatin, has been previously established as a mechanism contributing to maintenance of the senescence phenotype in oncogene-induced and replicative senescence. In the second part of this thesis, we thus analyzed to what extent does SAHF formation represent a universal feature of the senescence program. We concluded that SAHF are dispensable for some types of cellular senescence and occur in an insult- and cell type-dependent manner.

Next, we investigated cytokine expression and signaling in cellular senescence evoked in tumor cells by diverse genotoxic drugs. We found, that senescent cells secrete a broad spectrum of cytokines/chemokines and persistently activate the JAK/STAT signaling pathway. Our data thus suggest autocrine/paracrine effects of cytokine signaling on senescence-associated gene expression, a phenomenon that is likely highly relevant to the outcome of cancer chemotherapy.

Finally, we provide novel insights into our current knowledge about regulation of the tumor suppressor PML in drug-induced senescence. According to our data, transcriptional upregulation of PML is independent of the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and is controlled by JAK/STAT signaling, via binding of the transcription factor STAT to the ISRE element in the PML gene promoter.

Keywords: ARF, cytokine, DNA damage response, oncogene, PML, SAHF, senescence

ABSTRAKT

Buňky jsou trvale vystaveny různým formám stresu, který pochází jak z vnitřního, tak z vnějšího prostředí. Buněčná senescence, permanentní zástava buněčného cyklu, představuje fyziologickou odpověď organismu, která zabraňuje proliferaci poškozených buněk. Jedná se o významný mechanismus nádorové suprese, jelikož inaktivace této bariéry v pre-maligních stadiích tumoru vede k rozvoji rakovinného bujení. Na druhou stranu, v dlouhodobé perspektivě se senescence podílí na stárnutí tkáně organismu. Porozumění příčinám a důsledkům senescence nám může poskytnout důležité informace o procesech jako je rakovinné bujení a stárnutí organismu, což může přispět k nalezení nových terapeutických přístupů.

V první částí dizertační práce jsme studovali vztah mezi dvěma tumor-suprimujícími signálními dráhami, DDR a ARF, v odpovědi na aktivaci onkogenu. S využitím několika myších modelů, lidských klinických vzorků a buněčných kultur jsme ukázali, že k aktivaci signální dráhy ARF dochází v pozdějším stádiu vývoje nádoru než k aktivaci dráhy DDR. Pro spuštění ARF signalizace je navíc zapotřebí vyšší hladiny onkogenního stresu než pro aktivaci DDR. ARF tedy představuje pozdní a komplementární bariéru nádorové suprese.

Změny chromatinu spojené se senescencí (SAHF) jsou obecně považovány za mechanismus přispívající k zástavě buněčného cyklu v onkogenní a replikativní senescenci. V druhé části této dizertační práce jsme proto analyzovali, do jaké míry jsou změny chromatinu univerzální u různých typů senescence. Zjistili jsme, že některé typy buněčné senescence nejsou doprovázeny změnami chromatinu a ty se tedy vyskytují v závislosti na povaze signálu spouštějícího senescenci a také v závislosti na buněčném typu.

Dále jsme studovali cytokinovou expresi a signalizaci v nádorových buňkách, které byly vystaveny účinku různých genotoxických látek. Naše data ukazují, že senescentní buňky sekretují široké spektrum cytokinů a trvale aktivují JAK/STAT signální dráhu. Tato cytokinová signalizace má autokrinní/parakrinní efekt na genovou expresi, což je relevantní vzhledem k chemoterapii používané při léčbě nádoru.

V poslední části práce poskytujeme nový vhled do současných znalostí o regulaci nádorového supressoru PML v chemickými látkami indukované senescenci. Dle našich výsledků je regulace transkripce PML nezávislá na dráze p53 a je kontrolována signální dráhou JAK/STAT prostřednictvím vazby transkripčního faktoru STAT na element ISRE, jež je lokalizován v promotoru genu PML.

Klíčová slova: ARF, cytokin, signalizace poškození DNA, onkogen, PML, SAHF, senescence

Table of contents

1. INTRODUCTION	12
1.1 Markers of senescent cells	12
1.2 Triggers of cellular senescence	14
1.2.1 Replicative cellular senescence	14
1.2.2 Oncogene-induced senescence	15
1.2.3 Drug-induced senescence	15
1.3 Established senescence signaling pathways	16
1.3.1 The DNA Damage Response pathway	16
1.3.2 The p53-p21 pathway	18
1.3.3 The p16 ^{INK4a} -RB pathway	20
1.3.4 Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci (SAHF)	21
1.3.5 Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP)	22
1.3.5.1 The JAK/STAT signaling pathway	22
1.3.5.2 Cytokines and cellular senescence	23
1.4 Role of the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) in senescence	24
1.4.1 PML protein structure and PML nuclear bodies	24
1.4.2 PML gene regulation	25
1.4.3 Functions of the PML protein	25
1.4.3.1 Role of PML in the DNA Damage Response pathway	26
1.4.3.2 Roles of PML in the p53-p21 and p16 ^{INK4a} -RB pathways	27
1.4.3.3 Role of PML in SAHF formation	
1.5 Cellular senescence and tumor suppression	29
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	30
3. METHODS	31
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	32
4.1 List of publications	32
4.2 Linking of publications	33

6. REFERENCES	
5. CONCLUSIONS	
4.7 Discussion	
4.6 Publication 4	74
4.5 Publication 3	61
4.4 Publication 2	
4.3 Publication 1	

ABBREVIATIONS

ARF	alternative open reading frame
ASF1a	anti-silencing function 1A histone chaperone
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related
BLM	Bloom syndrome protein
BRAF	v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B
BRCA1	breast cancer 1
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase
C/EBP-β	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta
CHK1	checkpoint kinase 1
СНК2	checkpoint kinase 2
CXCR2	chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 2
DAPI	4`,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DDR	DNA damage response
DMA	distamycin A
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA-PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DSB	double-strand break
ETS	ETS transcription factor
E1A	early region 1A
E2F1	E2F transcription factor 1
GAS	gamma activated site
γH2AX	phosphorylated histone H2AX
HdCDT	Haemophilus ducreyi Cytolethal Distending Toxin
HIRA	histone cell cycle regulator
HMGA	high mobility group AT-hook
HRAS	Harvey rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog

HPV16	human papilloma virus
HP1	heterochromatin protein 1
H3K9Me	methylated histone H3 on Lys 9
IFN	interferon
IFNβ	interferon beta
IFNγ	interferon gamma
IL-6	interleukin 6
IL-8	interleukin 8
IL-10	interleukin 10
IL-24	interleukin 24
IR	ionizing radiation
IRIF	ionizing radiation-induced foci
ISG15	ISG15 ubiquitin-like modifier
ISRE	interferon-stimulated response element
JAK	Janus kinase
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
MDC1	mediator of DNA-damage checkpoint 1
MDM2	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase MDM2
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1
MRE11	meiotic recombination 11
MX1	myxovirus (influenza virus) resistance 1
МҮС	v-myc avian myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog
NBS1	Nijmegen breakage syndrome 1
NEK2	NIMA-related kinase 2
NF1	neurofibromin 1
NPM	nucleophosmin
PML	promyelocytic leukemia protein
PML-NBs	promyelocytic leukemia protein nuclear bodies
POT1	protection of telomeres 1
PP1	protein-phosphatase 1

PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
p14 ^{ARF}	alternative open reading frame protein 14
p16 ^{INK4a}	CDK inhibitor p16
p21	CDK-interaction protein 1
p53	p53 tumor suppressor
RAD50	RAD50 homolog
RAD51	RAD51 recombinase
RAF	v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
RARα	retinoic acid receptor α
RB	retinoblastoma protein
RECQL	RecQ protein-like
RPA	replication protein A
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SA-β-gal	senescence-associated β -galactosidase
SAHF	senescence-associated heterochromatin foci
SASP	senescence-associated secretory phenotype
SH2	src homology 2
ssDNA	single-strand DNA
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TOPBP1	topoisomerase (DNA) II binding protein 1
TRF2	telomeric repeat binding factor 2
TYK2	tyrosine kinase 2
53BP1	p53 binding protein 1

1. INTRODUCTION

Cellular senescence was described more than 40 years ago as a process that limits the growth of normal human cells in culture (Hayflick, 1965). Hayflick and coworkers demonstrated that these cells can proliferate *in vitro* for approximately 55 populations doublings before their proliferative capacity succumbs to proliferation arrest despite the presence of abundant nutrients and mitogens (Adams, 2009; Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007). The term cellular senescence therefore denotes a stable and long-term loss of proliferative capacity, despite continued viability and metabolic activity (Kuilman et al., 2010).

1.1 Markers of senescent cells

An exclusive (specific) and universal marker of senescence has not been identified to date. However, senescent cells display several phenotypes, which in combination can define the senescent state:

- a) Growth arrest. Senescent cells are unable to progress through the cell cycle. The senescence growth arrest is essentially permanent and cannot be reversed by known physiological stimuli (Di Leonardo et al., 1994; Serrano et al., 1997).
- b) Changes in morphology. Senescent cells usually show altered cellular morphology. The most obvious is their increase in cell size. In some cases, cells can enlarge more than two-fold relative to the size of nonsenescent cells (Hayflick, 1965).
- c) Expression of SA- β-galactosidase. A biomarker, which can be used for a more specific identification of senescent cells, is the senescence-associated β-galactosidase (SA- β-gal) (Dimri et al., 1995). The SA- β-gal probably derives from lysosomal β-D-galactosidase encoded by the GLB1 gene and reflects the

increased lysosomal biogenesis commonly occurring in senescent cells. It can be measured at suboptimal pH 6 (Lee et al., 2006).

- d) Lipofuscin accumulation. Lipofuscin, an insoluble aggregate of oxidized proteins, accumulates in aged tissues (Jung et al., 2007). In contrast to SA- βgalactosidase, lipofuscin can be detected also in formalin-fixed paraffinembedded (FFPE) archival tissues by a lipophilic histochemical stain Sudan Black B (SBB) (Georgakopoulou et al., 2013).
- e) DDR signaling. Persistent activation of DNA Damage Response (DDR) enables cells to sense damaged DNA and respond by arresting cell-cycle progression. Many proteins participating in the DDR such as DNA damage sensors (e.g. MRE11-RAD50-NBS1), modified histones (γH2AX), adaptor proteins (MDC1 and 53BP1), protein kinases (ATM and CHK2) can be detected in senescent cells (Bartkova et al., 2005; di Fagagna et al., 2003; Herbig et al., 2004).
- f) Activation of tumor suppressor pathways. Establishment of the senescence program is mediated by activation of tumor suppressor pathways such as p53-p21 and p16^{INK4a}-RB (Lowe et al., 2004). Therefore, accumulation (e.g. p16^{INK4a}, p21) or posttranslational modification (e.g. pSer15 p53, phosphorylated RB) of proteins involved in these pathways can be used (to some extent) as biomarkers of senescence (Chen et al., 2005; Lin et al., 1998; Serrano et al., 1997; Stein et al., 1990).
- g) Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF). Senescence can be accompanied by specific alterations of the chromatin, known as senescenceassociated heterochromatic foci (Narita et al., 2003). In contrast to cycling human cells, some senescent cells display a punctuate nuclear pattern after staining of DNA by the 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) dye.

h) Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). Senescent cells exhibit profound changes in their secretome called the senescence-associated secretory phenotype: SASP (Coppe et al., 2008). Numerous inflammatory proteins and extracellular-matrix associated factors are induced in senescent cells and secreted to allow communication both within and also among cells (Acosta et al., 2008; Goldstein et al., 1994; Goldstein et al., 1991).

1.2 Triggers of cellular senescence

Although cellular senescence was first described in the context with excessive rounds of cell division (Hayflick, 1965), it can be caused also by various cellular stresses e.g. oncogene activation or tumor suppressor inactivation (Lin et al., 1998; Serrano et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 1998), oxidative stress (Adams, 2009; Chen and Ames, 1994), DNA-damaging agents such as ionizing radiation (Di Leonardo et al., 1994; Robles and Adami, 1998) and drugs (te Poele et al., 2002; Wang et al., 1998a).

1.2.1 Replicative cellular senescence

In 1990 it was shown that as human primary fibroblasts are cultured towards the end of their replicative lifespan, telomere length gradually decreases (Harley et al., 1990). Other authors later demonstrated that the activity of telomerase, which is the enzyme counteracting telomere shortening, is high in immortal cells and absent from human somatic cells. At the same time they have shown that human primary fibroblasts can be immortalized by transfection of the catalytic subunit of human telomerase (hTERT) (Bodnar et al., 1998). Telomere attrition was therefore established as a trigger for replicative cellular senescence originally described by Hayflick in 1965 (Hayflick, 1965, 2000).

1.2.2 Oncogene-induced senescence

Oncogene activation is a hallmark of cell transformation and cancer. However, early studies on mutant HRAS led to the discovery that it induces cell cycle arrest when it is introduced alone into primary cells (Land et al., 1983; Serrano et al., 1997). Subsequently, other oncogenes such as BRAF and MEK were shown to cause senescence when expressed as oncogenic versions or overexpressed (Lin et al., 1998; Michaloglou et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 1998). Unlike replicative senescence, oncogene-induced senescence can't be bypassed by transfection of the catalytic subunit of human telomerase (hTERT), confirming its independence from telomere attrition (Wei et al., 1999).

This initial *in vitro* observation was validated *in vivo* by using mouse models. The conditional gene knock-in mouse model of KRAS was shown to trigger senescence during the early stages of pancreatic and lung tumorigenesis (Collado et al., 2005). Oncogenic BRAF expression in mouse leads to lung adenomas with features of cellular senescence (Dankort et al., 2007; Dhomen et al., 2009). Transgenic expression of β -catenin induces senescence in murine lymphocytes (Xu et al., 2008). In addition, loss of the tumor suppressor PTEN in mice prostate leads to development of benign lesions with presence of senescent cells (Chen et al., 2005).

Importantly, occurrence of senescence during tumor progression has been documented also in human premalignant lesions. Senescent cells were found in human colon adenomas (Bartkova et al., 2006), in benign melanocytic nevi carrying oncogenic mutant BRAF (Michaloglou et al., 2005), in neurofibromas from NF1 mutant patients (Courtois-Cox et al., 2006) and also in early-stages of human prostate cancer (Chen et al., 2005).

1.2.3 Drug-induced senescence

Anticancer drugs can usually induce either apoptosis or proliferation arrest, however, senescence can be achieved by using lower drug concentrations than those required to trigger apoptosis (Chang et al., 2002; Rebbaa et al., 2003). Importantly, drug-induced senescence, unlike most other types of premature senescence, can be established in cancer cells (Rebbaa, 2005). Many chemotherapeutic agents have been reported to force cells into senescence. The

first group of such drugs represent topoisomerase inhibitors such as campthotecin, etoposide and doxorubicin, which interfere with the ability of topoisomerases to re-ligate DNA (Chang et al., 1999a; Han et al., 2002). Other potent inductors of senescence are alkylating agents, platinum-based drugs causing crosslinking of DNA, and hydroxyurea, a well-known inhibitor of ribonucleotide reductase (Chang et al., 1999a; Yeo et al., 2000).

1.3 Established senescence signaling pathways

Several pathways have been shown to play roles in cellular senescence. These include among others the DNA-damage response (DDR), p53-p21 and p16^{INK4a}-RB pathways. Changes in chromatin (SAHF) (Narita et al., 2003) and proteins secreted during senescence (SASP) (Coppe et al., 2008) also contribute to establishment and maintenance of the senescence program.

1.3.1 The DNA Damage Response pathway

Ruptures of the DNA backbone can lead to the generation of single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) or DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs). Both structures compromise the structural stability of chromosomes (d'Adda di Fagagna, 2008). Signaling kinases, notably ATR, ATM and DNA-PK, are recruited to the sites of DNA damage and are activated. The recruitment leads to the phosphorylation of Ser-139 of histone H2AX adjacent to the site of DNA damage, which is necessary for focal assembly of checkpoint and DNA repair factors including NBS1, 53BP1 and BRCA1 (Celeste et al., 2002). An increase of local ATR and ATM activity also engage DDR factors which function far from the site of DNA damage such as transducer kinases CHK1 and CHK2. Both kinases then spread DDR signaling by phosphorylating its substrates throughout the cell (Bekker-Jensen et al., 2006; Lukas et al., 2003).

DNA damage signaling leads to establishment of transient cell cycle arrest or senescence depending on the severity of damage to the genome. Robust activation of the DDR pathway was shown to have a causative role in the establishment and also maintenance of cellular senescence caused by different stimuli such as telomere shortering, oncogene activation or treatment by chemotherapeutic agents (Chang et al., 1999a).

In molecular terms telomeres consist of repetitive DNA sequences at the end of linear chromosomes that protects the DNA ends from recombination and degradation (Chan et al., 2001). Due to inability of the replication machinery to copy the ends of linear molecules each DNA replication cycle therefore reduces the number of telomere repeats (Blasco, 2005). When telomeres shorten below a certain threshold length, their protective structure consisting of telomere-associated proteins such as TRF2 and POT1 is disrupted and unrestrained DNA damage response (DDR) is activated (di Fagagna et al., 2003; Harley et al., 1990; Herbig et al., 2004; Karlseder et al., 2004). DDR enables the cells to sense damaged DNA and to respond by arresting cell-cycle progression and repairing the damage (di Fagagna et al., 2003; Herbig et al., 2004; Takai et al., 2003). However, if the DNA damage exceeds a certain threshold, cells are destined to undergo either apoptosis or senescence (Kuilman et al., 2010). Importantly, senescence is determined by the presence of a few short telomeres that are able to trigger the DDR and not by the average telomere length (Herbig et al., 2004). In summary, progressive telomere shortening eventually causes chromosome ends to be recognized as DNA breaks. That can activate the DNA damage response signaling pathway and cause senescence (d'Adda di Fagagna, 2008).

It has been observed that oncogene-induced cellular senescence, which is mediated by different oncogenes, is also associated with activation of the DDR, which is triggered by excessive replication caused by oncogenic signals (Bartkova et al., 2006; Di Micco et al., 2006).

Time-course studies have revealed that expression of the oncogenic HRAS leads to a transient initial hyperproliferation phase followed by proliferation slow-down and establishment of cellular senescence (Di Micco et al., 2006). The same response has also been observed after expression of MYC, BRAF and E2F1 (Dankort et al., 2007; Denchi et al., 2005; Dominguez-Sola et al., 2007; Michaloglou et al., 2005). Senescent cells have an augmented number of active replicons and exhibit defects in DNA replication fork progression. DDR is activated at the end of hyperproliferation phase and coincides with entry into senescence (Di Micco et al., 2006). Another evidence that DDR activation results from

17

altered DNA replication is that at least a subset of oncogenes can trigger senescence only if cells are allowed to enter S phase of the cell cycle (Bartkova et al., 2006; Di Micco et al., 2006). MYC is able to bind to DNA replication origins and activates the replication machinery (Dominguez-Sola et al., 2007).

The DNA damage response pathway is also activated by many chemotherapeutic drugs such as campthotecin, etoposide, doxorubicin, cisplatin and hydroxyurea which usually generates single- and double-strand DNA breaks via different mechanisms and leads to cellular senescence (Chang et al., 1999a; Han et al., 2002; Yeo et al., 2000).

1.3.2 The p53-p21 pathway

The p53 tumor suppressor pathway is inactivated in the majority of human cancers, leading to accumulation of damaged cells and progression of cancer (Petitjean et al., 2007). Mice with mutation in the p53 pathway develop spontaneous tumors at a juvenile age and Li-Fraumeni patients, who suffer from familial syndrome due to germ-line mutations in the same pathway, have an increased risk of early onset of numerous types of cancer (Donehower et al., 1992; Srivastava et al., 1990).

The key protein of this pathway is p53, also known as the "guardian of the genome", which regulates numerous cellular processes such as apoptosis, autophagy, DNA repair and cellular senescence in response to various stress signals (Beckerman and Prives, 2010; Green and Kroemer, 2009; Lane, 1992; Yee and Vousden, 2005). Recent studies have postulated that the ability of p53 to regulate cellular senescence may contribute to its tumor-suppressive role (Chen et al., 2005; Xue et al., 2007).

In unstressed cells, p53 is a short-lived protein which is continuously targeted for proteasomal degradation via ubiquitination by E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 (Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat et al., 1997). Importantly, MDM2 itself is a product of a p53-inducible gene and thus forms a negative autoregulatory loop (Picksley and Lane, 1993). In order to establish cellular senescence under stressed conditions, p53 needs to escape the degradation-promoting effects of MDM2. Several pathways have been shown to activate p53.

First, p53 can be activated by the DDR pathway in response to DNA damage caused by different senescence stimuli such as short telomeres, oncogene activation or chemotherapeutic drugs (Bartkova et al., 2006; Chang et al., 1999b; Di Micco et al., 2006; Herbig et al., 2004). For example dysfunctional and uncapped telomeres occurring during replicative senescence became associated with DNA damage response factors such as γ H2AX, 53BP1 and initiate activation of the DDR pathway (Takai et al., 2003; von Zglinicki et al., 2004). DDR signaling results in activation of serine/threonine kinases ATM and ATR and leads to phosphorylation of p53 (Herbig et al., 2004). p53 has been also shown to be phosphorylated upon oncogene expression, where DNA hyper-replication leads to collapse of replication forks and accumulation of DNA DSBs which activate the DDR (Di Micco et al., 2006). Similarly, treatment of cells with anti-cancer drugs, which are known to activate the DDR, leads to phosphorylation of p53 at Ser¹⁵ (Liang et al., 2011). p53 phosphorylated by ATM became more resistant to inhibition by MDM2 (Canman et al., 1998; Shieh et al., 1997),

Interestingly, the DDR pathway can also modulate function of p53 through modification of MDM2. Upon ionizing radiation or neocarzinostatin treatment MDM2 is phosphorylated in an ATM-dependent manner. Moreover MDM2 is phosphorylated by ATM *in vitro* (Khosravi et al., 1999). For example phosphorylation of MDM2 on S395 by ATM impairs the ability of MDM2 to promote degradation of p53 (Maya et al., 2001).

In summary, the DDR pathway can promote p53 activity and stability by mediating phosphorylation of both p53 and E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2, which prevents their interaction and protects p53 from proteasome-mediated degradation (Moll and Petrenko, 2003).

Activity of the p53 pathway can be also modulated via the p14^{ARF} protein, which is the product of the INK4a/ARF locus (Sherr, 2012). This locus is located at chromosome 9p21 in human (chromosome 4 in mouse) and encodes two different proteins, p14^{ARF} (p19^{ARF} in mouse) and p16^{INK4a}, by reading a shared exon in a different translational reading frame. As a consequence p14^{ARF} and p16^{INK4a} don't share any amino acid homology (Nobori et al., 1994; Quelle et al., 1995; Serrano et al., 1993). p14^{ARF} and p16^{INK4a} proteins participate in two different tumor-suppressor pathways (p53 and p16^{INK4a}-RB, respectively) and both have been mechanistically linked to senescence (Evan and di Fagagna, 2009).

It has been shown that in mice ARF expression can be activated by oncogenic RAS/RAF signaling via Dmp1 and E2F1 (Palmero et al., 1998; Sreeramaneni et al., 2005). Both proteins are able to bind and activate ARF gene promoter (Bates et al., 1998; Inoue et al., 1999). Expressed ARF can modulate activity of the tumor suppressor p53 via inhibition of the E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). ARF binds to and sequesters MDM2 in nucleolus, which therefore can't be in contact with p53 localized in the nucleoplasm, thereby resulting in stabilization of p53 (Tao and Levine, 1999). Major consequence of p53 stabilization, either by the DDR pathway or by ARF, is a sequence-specific binding of stabilized p53 to DNA and activation or repression of its target genes (Yee and Vousden, 2005). One of many examples of genes regulated by p53 is a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21, which plays a critical role in inducing the cell cycle arrest (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007).

1.3.3 The p16^{INK4a}-RB pathway

Another protein encoded by the INK4a/ARF locus is p16^{INK4a}, a critical regulator of senescence acting through protein RB (Adams, 2009; Quelle et al., 1995). Under non-stressed conditions, cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes phosphorylate the RB protein, which in turn releases tethered E2F transcription factors. E2F subsequently activates transcription of genes which are necessary for the progression from G1 to S phase of the cell the cycle (Harbour et al., 1999; Sherr and Roberts, 1999).

It has been shown that oncogenic RAS induces p16^{INK4a} expression by activating transcription factors ETS (Ohtani et al., 2001). In turn, the elevated p16^{INK4a} negatively regulates CDK4/6 and inhibits its kinase activity (Gil and Peters, 2006). The RB protein, which can't be phosphorylated by CDK4/6, remains in its hypophosphorylated state and binds the transcription factor E2F1. The RB-E2F1 binding subsequently prevents transcription of E2F1 target genes that are necessary for the progression from G1 to S phase and leads to the cell cycle arrest (Rayess et al., 2012).

1.3.4 Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci (SAHF)

Importance of chromatin changes in cellular senescence has been discussed for a long time (Ryan and Cristofalo, 1972). A significant mechanistic insight into the role of chromatin in permanent cell cycle arrest maintenance was brought in 2003, when global heterochromatinization of senescent nuclei was described as Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF) (Narita et al., 2003).

SAHF can be defined as discrete domains of heterochromatin that form due to largescale chromosome condensation (Narita et al., 2003). Each SAHF focus is thought to be an individual chromosome (Funayama et al., 2006). Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci can be easily visualized by the DNA dye 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). While cycling or quiescent cells show largely homogenous DAPI staining for DNA, senescent cells positive for SAHF display bright positive nuclear foci (Narita et al., 2003).

SAHF, which were initially described in replicative and oncogene-induced senescence in human fibroblasts, contain several common markers of heterochromatin such as methylated histone H3 on Lys 9 (H3K9Me), hypoacetylated histones and Heterochromatin Protein 1 (HP1) (Narita et al., 2003). At the same time, depletion of a linker histone H1 and enrichment of a histone variant macroH2A or HMGA are considered to represent SAHF-specific marks (Funayama et al., 2006; Narita et al., 2006). Several pathways have been demonstrated to contribute to the SAHF formation.

The HIRA/ASF1a pathway is necessary for SAHF formation. The chromatin regulator HIRA is translocated into PML (Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear) bodies where it colocalizes with HP1 proteins. HIRA/HP1 together with another chromatin regulator ASF1 are subsequently incorporated into chromatin. ASF1a depletion leads to a senescence bypass (Zhang et al., 2005).

The HIRA/ASF1 pathway appears to converge with the p16^{INK4a}-RB pathway, which plays a key role in inducing SAHF formation in oncogene-induced senescence (Narita et al., 2003; Ye et al., 2007). It was published that oncogene-induced SAHF formation is impaired once RB pathway is disrupted by the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A (Narita et al., 2003), by expression of an shRNA against RB (Narita et al., 2003) or by expression of the SV40 virus large T antigen (Ye et al., 2007). Proliferation-promoting genes such as Cyclin A, known

targets of the E2F transcription factor which is regulated by RB, are incorporated into SAHF. At the same time RB colocalizes with SAHF (Narita et al., 2003). These results suggest that growth arrest in senescent cells can be partly maintained by heterochromatinization (and hence silencing) of proliferation-promoting genes (Funayama et al., 2006; Narita et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2007).

The mechanistic contribution of the p53 pathway to cell cycle arrest via SAHF formation is not entirely clear. Knockdown of a chromatin remodeler p400 results in p53dependent and at the same time RB-independent SAHF formation (Chan et al., 2005). This result suggests that p53 and RB form distinct pathways leading to SAHF formation.

1.3.5 Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP)

Senescent cells show pronounced changes in gene expression of many secreted proteins such as metalloproteinases or cytokines (Bavik et al., 2006; Coppe et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008; Shelton et al., 1999; Wajapeyee et al., 2008). The first clue of changes in secretome of senescent cells was revealed by microarray analyses of replicatively senescent fibroblasts (Shelton et al., 1999). Since that it has been shown that the secretory phenotype occurs in different cell types such as human melanocytes, human breast epithelial cells, human endothelial cells and mouse lymphoma cells, and it has been termed senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (Chien et al., 2011; Coppe et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008; Maier et al., 1990).

1.3.5.1 The JAK/STAT signaling pathway

Cytokines are key mediators of the immune response and play important roles also in processes such as autoimmune diseases, cancer and cellular senescence (Aringer et al., 1999; Dinarello, 2007; Kuilman et al., 2008). They are produced by many different types of cells and can be subdivided into several subgroups including interferons, interleukins, mesenchymal growth factors, tumor necrosis factors, adipokines and chemokines (Dinarello, 2007).

Cytokines bind to their cognate receptor and trigger intracellular signaling through Janus tyrosine kinases (JAKs) and their transcription factors STATs (signal transducers and activators of transcription). There are four members of JAKs family (JAK1, JAK2, JAK3 and TYK2) and seven members of STAT known. Cytokine signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway impacts and changes gene expression (Jatiani et al., 2010).

Particulary, ligand binding to cytokine receptor localized at the cytoplasmatic membrane induces receptor dimerization/oligomerization. Subsequently, JAKs undergo autophosphorylation and this activation of JAKs results in phosphorylation of receptors on tyrosine residues. STATs are recruited via their SH2 domains to activated receptors and become phosphorylated by Janus kinases. Phosphorylated STATs can dimerize and their translocation from cytoplasm to the nucleus facilitates activation or suppression of target genes (Baker et al., 2007).

1.3.5.2 Cytokines and cellular senescence

It was found that more than fifty different cytokines are secreted at higher levels by senescent cells (Davalos et al., 2010). Moreover, several publications showed that cytokines are able to amplify the senescence phenotype in an autocrine manner (Acosta et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008).

The first cytokine which was causally implicated in the induction and maintenance of oncogene-induced and replicative senescence is IL-8. This cytokine signals via the CXCR2 receptor. Depletion of CXCR2 abolishes cell cycle arrest and at the same time ectopic expression of CXCR2 results in premature senescence via the p53 pathway (Acosta et al., 2008). This work thus showed that senescent cells reinforce their growth arrest by activation of a self-amplifying secretory network (Bartek et al., 2008).

Another cytokine, IL-6, is secreted by senescent cells and required together with its receptor for establishment of oncogene-induced senescence. The transcription factor C/EBP- β is an essential regulator of IL-6 and both proteins cooperate to amplify the oncogenic signal (Kuilman et al., 2008).

Cytokines have been also shown to cause DNA damage-induced senescence by ROS production upon prolonged exposure of cultured cells. For example, treatment with IFN β causes activation of DNA damage signaling with accumulation of phosphorylated ATM, CHK2 and p53 (Moiseeva et al., 2006).

1.4 Role of the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) in senescence

The promyelocytic leukemia (PML) tumor-suppressor was initially identified in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), where PML gene (on chromosome 15) can be subject to fusion with the retinoic acid receptor α (RAR α) gene (on chromosome 17). The chromosomal translocation t(15;17) results in proeduction of the PML-RAR α fusion protein, which plays a driving role in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) (de The et al., 1990; Melnick and Licht, 1999).

1.4.1 PML protein structure and PML nuclear bodies

The PML protein consists of N-terminally located RING domain, two RING-like domains and an α -helical coiled-coil motif (Duprez et al., 1999; Kastner et al., 1992; Tao et al., 2008). Alternative splice variants of PML exist, resulting in seven different PML isoforms, named PML I–VII. Those variants all contain an identical N-terminal region and at the same time differ in their C-terminal sequences (Jensen et al., 2001). Beside the isoforms localized in the nuclear matrix or cytoplasm, some isoforms are found to be part of PML nuclear bodies (PML-NBs), which represent macromolecular 'objects' of a doughnut shape. Cells usually contain about 10-30 PML-NBs depending on the cell cycle stage (Jensen et al., 2001; Zhong et al., 2000). While the PML protein is usually localized on the outside of the PML-NBs, other partner proteins are usually inside of this structure (Guiochon-Mantel et al., 1995).

To date, more than 100 proteins involved in a variety of molecular pathways have been found to localize either constitutively or transiently with PML-NBs (LallemandBreitenbach and de The, 2010). Thus, PML NBs appear to be plurifunctional structures containing an assembly of diverse proteins, post-translationally modified, or anchored.

1.4.2 PML gene regulation

To date, several reports showed, that PML expression and formation of PML NBs increase upon oncogenic expression and DNA damage (Ferbeyre et al., 2000; Pearson and Pelicci, 2001; Scaglioni et al., 2012). In oncogene-induced senescence, PML transcription is controlled by the tumor suppressor protein p53, through p53 response element in the PML gene (de Stanchina et al., 2004).

PML promoter also contains IFN-response elements (ISREs) and IFNγ activated sites (GAS), which are responsive to interferons (Stadler et al., 1995).

1.4.3 Functions of the PML protein

The tumor suppressive functions of PML were originally suggested by the identification of a PML-RAR α fusion protein in human acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), which can be characterized by a differentiation block of the myeloid progenitor cells at the promyelocytic stage (de The et al., 1990; Kakizuka et al., 1991). The RAR α protein regulates transcription of genes, which are critical for the induction of myeloid cell terminal differentiation. The PML-RAR α fusion protein, which is the product of translocation of the PML gene to the RAR α gene, acts as a double dominant-negative oncoprotein blocking RAR α -dependent transcriptional functions and also the PML pathway. Aberrant function of the RAR α pathway due to interference with PML-RAR α is considered to be one of the major causes of the differentiation block and an essential feature of leukemogenesis (Melnick and Licht, 1999; Pandolfi, 2001; Yang et al., 2006).

At the same time, dominant-negative mutants of RAR α fail to cause leukemia with APL features in transgenic mice, suggesting that functional disruption of PML is also critical in the process of malignant transformation (Pandolfi, 2001). PML null mice are also prone to

develop T and B cell lymphomas (Wang et al., 1998b) and in a mouse model of lung cancer, PML inactivation leads to increased tumorigenesis (Scaglioni et al., 2006).

Numerous reports suggest that the PML protein plays a critical role in several cellular processes related to tumor suppression such as regulation of apoptosis, neoangiogenesis, cell migration, DNA damage response and cellular senescence (Chen et al., 2012). Interestingly, PML has been also found to act in concert with all main pathways, which are involved in mediating cellular senescence. Upregulated PML expression and increase in the number and size of PML-NBs have been for the first time observed upon expression of oncogenic RAS and also in replicative senescence (Ferbeyre et al., 2000; Pearson et al., 2000). At the same time, oncogene-induced senescence is impaired in PML depleted cells (Pearson et al., 2000).

1.4.3.1 Role of PML in the DNA Damage Response pathway

Many senescence-inducing stimuli have been shown to generate a persistent DNA damage response (DDR), which is very often associated with DNA double-strand breaks (DSB). DDR signaling plays an important role in establishing and maintaining senescent phenotypes (d'Adda di Fagagna, 2008).

PML NBs represent dynamic structures which are known to change morphology in response to DNA damage (Carbone et al., 2002; Conlan et al., 2004). A growing number of DNA repair factors such as MRE11, NBS1, BLM, RAD50, ATR, RPA and RECQL, have been reported to localize to PML-NBs. Moreover, their translocation to and from PML NBs is regulated in response to DNA damage (Barr et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2000; Lombard and Guarente, 2000; Mirzoeva and Petrini, 2001). This data strongly suggest that PML may play a role in DNA repair and indeed, several publications support such concept.

First, PML NBs are sites of BLM, RAD51 and the replication protein A (RPA) assembly during the late S-G2 phase of the cell cycle and upon ionizing radiation (IR). At the same time, the BLM protein, a member of the RECQ DNA helicase family, doesn't form Ionizing Radiation-Induced Foci (IRIF) in PML defective cells upon IR (Bischof et al., 2001). These data indicate that the localization of proteins such as BLM to PML NBs is somehow required for their normal function. Following IR, PML NBs also associate with MRE11 and

the tumor suppressor p53 at sites of ssDNA and DSB breaks. PML NBs thus can represent structures where DNA repair activities and cell cycle checkpoints are co-ordinated (Carbone et al., 2002).

Evidence of a functional relationship between PML and one of the main DDR kinases, ATM, has also been shown. Thus, PML became phosphorylated at S117 by CHK2, which is an ATM-activated kinase (ATM substrate), in response to IR (Yang et al., 2002). Furthermore, after CHK2 phosphorylation by ATM at the site of DSB, PML activates CHK2 by mediating the autophosphorylation step of CHK2 (Yang et al., 2006). Finally, inhibition of ATM and CHK2 signaling abrogates PML NBs formation in response to DSB (Dellaire et al., 2006).

Another major DDR kinase, ATR, has been found to be localized in PML NBs together with the RPA protein prior to damage. Upon exposure of cells to ionizing radiation, ATR and RPA leave PML NBs and translocate to IRIF. This relocalization requires kinase activity of ATR (Barr et al., 2003). Furthermore, PML modulates expression of TOPBP1, which physically interacts with ATR and is required for stimulation of ATR in response to damage. Inhibition of PML expression results in a significantly decreased expression of TOPBP1. At the same time, TOPBP1 is unable to form IRIF in PML deficient cells. PML thus regulates activation of ATR, a kinase critical for DNA damage and replication stress resistance (Xu et al., 2003).

1.4.3.2 Roles of PML in the p53-p21 and p16^{INK4a}-RB pathways

The mechanism(s) by which PML contributes to senescence involves both the p53 and the RB pathway (Ferbeyre et al., 2000; Pearson et al., 2000). Both proteins have been shown to directly interact with PML (Alcalay et al., 1998; Fogal et al., 2000).

The relationship between PML and p53 is complex and PML is able to regulate the p53 pathway in several ways. First, upon oncogenic RAS expression, PML modulates p53 acetylation and its transcriptional activation, resulting in p21 tumor suppressor expression and cell cycle arrest. Second, it has been shown, that PML can protect p53 from proteasome-

mediated degradation. PML interacts with the E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 and sequesters it in the nucleolus, thereby leading to p53 stabilization (Bernardi et al., 2004).

Although PML is able to induce senescence in cells with inactivated p53, expression of HPV16 protein E7, which binds to RB and blocks the E2F-dependent gene expression, causes senescence bypass (Mallette et al., 2004). At the same time PML overexpression leads to increased levels of p16^{INK4a} and hypophosphorylated RB (Ferbeyre et al., 2000). One mechanism how PML can regulate senescence upon oncogenic RAS expression or extensive rounds of cell division via the RB/E2F pathway was published recently (Vernier et al., 2011). PML controls the activity of E2F transcription factors via relocalization of RB/E2F complexes into PML-NBs. This mechanism contributes to cell cycle arrest (Vernier et al., 2011).

1.4.3.3 Role of PML in SAHF formation

The promyelocytic leukemia (PML) tumor-suppressor has been implicated in regulation of heterochromatin changes in oncogene-induced and replicative senescence. Several SAHF (Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci) components transiently colocalize with PML-NBs as cells approach senescence (Ye et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2005). Specifically, the chromatin regulator HIRA and heterochromatin protein HP1 enter into PML-NBs, prior to deposition of HP1 into SAHF. HIRA relocalization is considered to be one of the earliest events in the senescence program, which precedes appearance of other markers of senescence such as cell cycle exit, changes in morphology, SA- β -gal activity and importantly SAHF formation. It has been also shown, that recruitment of HIRA to PML bodies correlates with incorporation of histone macroH2A (a transcription-silencing histone H2A variant) into chromatin and that ectopic expression of HIRA accelerates SAHF formation (Zhang et al., 2005).

A strong link between PML bodies and SAHF formation was supported in two ways. First, expressions of mutant HIRA, which blocks localization of endogenous HIRA into PML-NBs, abolished SAHF formation. Next, formation of SAHF was also blocked once PML-NBs are disrupted by the PML-RAR α fusion protein, a hybrid protein with altered functions (Ye et al., 2007). Overall, the PML bodies seem to play a catalytic role in assembly and modification of proteins prior to their translocation to chromatin and formation of SAHF (Zhang et al., 2005). However, once cells approach senescence, PML-NBs and SAHF form distinct nuclear structures (Vernier et al., 2011).

1.5 Cellular senescence and tumor suppression

As mentioned previously, presence of senescent cells has been identified both in mouse and human premalignant lesions such as in the prostate of mouse lacking the tumor suppressor PTEN (Chen et al., 2005) and in human colon adenomas, respectively (Bartkova et al., 2006). Importantly, senescent cells commonly found in premalignant or early cancer lesions, can be rarely found in the later stages of cancer (Bartkova et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Collado et al., 2005).

Moreover, bypass of cellular senescence upon inactivation of senescence-inducing pathways, such as p53/p21 and RB, can result in accelerated cancer development in mice and humans. For example, inactivation of p53 in benign lesions of the murine prostate lacking PTEN leads to progression into adenocarcinomas (Chen et al., 2005). Similarly, expression of oncogenic K-Ras stimulates the development of mammary epithelial hyperplasias in mice, while inactivation of senescence-inducing pathways results into malignant tumors (Sarkisian et al., 2007). In human, patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome are cancer-prone and their cells with p53 mutations overcome senescence more readily than normal (p53 wild-type) cells (Shay et al., 1995).

Thus, based on the observations that senescent cells can be found only in premalignant lesions and that inactivation of senescence-inducing pathways leads to cancer development, cellular senescence is considered to be an important physiological tumor suppressing mechanism *in vivo*, which can restrain the growth of potentially dangerous cells (Bartkova et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Collado et al., 2005).

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main objective of this study is to provide novel insights into several aspects of cellular senescence, which are important from not only mechanistic and conceptual points of view, but also highly relevant to cancer therapy. The aims are sub-divided into four parts, each represented by a separate study, dealing with the following issues and open questions:

- **Publication 1:** Activation of DDR and ARF pathways in response to oncogenes
 - Are DDR and ARF triggered concurrently or at different stages of cancer progression in response to oncogenic signaling?
 - Is there any difference in activation thresholds between DDR and ARF?
 - What is the relative contribution of DDR and ARF tumor suppressor pathways during oncogene-induced senescence?
- > Publication 2: Insights into chromatin changes during cellular senescence
 - Is Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci formation (SAHF) a universal feature of cellular senescence?
 - What is the correlation between SAHF formation and p16^{INK4a} pathway activation?
 - Is detection of SAHF applicable as a marker for studies in vivo?
- Publication 3: Role(s) of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) in drug-induced senescence
 - Is cellular senescence induced by diverse genotoxic compounds accompanied by protein secretion analogous to replicative and oncogene-induced senescence?
 - If yes, what is the spectrum of induced secreted proteins?
 - Which specific signaling pathways are activated?
- > **Publication 4:** Regulation of the tumor suppressor protein PML in cellular senescence
 - What is the molecular mechanism of PML induction in genotoxic drug-induced senescence?

3. METHODS

The list below represents methods used in the following four publications, which are parts of this thesis. Detailed protocols and other information (cell lines, mouse models, human samples, chemicals, antibodies, shRNA sequences, plasmids etc.) can be found in the section Material and Methods in each of the enclosed publications.

- Allelic imbalance analysis
- BrdU proliferation assay
- ChIP assay
- DNA copy number and gene expression data
- ELISA
- Flow cytometry
- Gel retardation assay
- Immunohistochemistry
- Indirect immunofluorescence
- Luciferase reporter assay
- Preparation of stable cell lines using lentivirus transduction
- Quantitative real time RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)
- SDS-PAGE and western blotting
- Senescence associated-β-galactosidase assay
- Statistical analysis

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results are presented in the form of the four original publications. Each of them is discussed in the context of relevant literature.

4.1 List of publications

- Publication 1: Evangelou, K., Bartkova, J., Kotsinas, A., Pateras, I.S., Liontos, M., Velimezi, G., <u>Kosar, M.</u>, Liloglou, T., Trougakos, I.P., Dyrskjot, L., Andersen, C., Papaioannou, M., Drosos, Y., Papafotiou, G., Hodny, Z., Sosa-Pineda, B., Wu, X.R., Klinakis, A., Orntoft, T., Lukas, J., Bartek, J., Gorgoulis V.G. (2013). The DNA damage checkpoint precedes activation of ARF in response to escalating oncogenic stress during tumorigenesis. Cell Death Differ. 20, 1485-1497.
- Publication 2: Kosar, M., Bartkova, J., Hubackova, S., Hodny, Z., Lukas, J., Bartek, J. (2011). Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci are dispensable for cellular senescence, occur in a cell type- and insult-dependent manner and follow expression of p16 (ink4a). Cell Cycle 10:3, 457-468.
- Publication 3: Novakova, Z., Hubackova, S., <u>Kosar, M.</u>, Janderova-Rossmeislova, L., Dobrovolna, J., Vasicova, P., Vancurova, M., Horejsi, Z., Hozak, P., Bartek, J., Hodny, Z. (2010). Cytokine expression and signaling in drug-induced cellular senescence. Oncogene 29, 273-284.
- Publication 4: Hubackova, S., Novakova, Z., Krejcikova, K., Kosar, M., Dobrovolna, J., Duskova, P., Hanzlikova, H., Vancurova, M., Barath, P., Bartek, J., Hodny, Z. (2010). Regulation of the PML tumor suppressor in drug-induced senescence of human normal and cancer cells by JAK/STAT-mediated signaling. Cell Cycle 9:15, 3085-3099.

4.2 Linking of publications

Publication 1 provides mechanistic insights into the cellular response to oncogenic stress, which can lead to premature senescence, cell death or to cancer progression in the case of impaired anticancer barriers. Particularly, we have investigated orchestration and relative contributions of the DNA damage response (DDR) and Alternative Reading Frame (ARF) pathways, which can both activate the p53 pathway and play a role in tumor suppression upon oncogene activation.

Publication 2 focuses on heterochromatin changes in senescent cells upon oncogene activation and other insults known to cause premature senescence. Since heterochromatinization was previously established as one of the mechanisms that help to maintain the senescent state, we investigated how universal feature of senescence phenotype is Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF) formation. In addition, we analyzed whether or not are SAHF applicable to studies *in vivo*.

Publication 3 contributes to our understanding about senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) in response to treatment with genotoxic drugs, and thus extends recent analogous studies on replicative and oncogene-induced senescence. We have analyzed the spectrum of cytokines secreted by tumor cells and examined pathways involved in the maintenance of cytokine signaling.

Publication 4 characterizes regulation of the tumor suppressor Promyelotic leukemia protein (PML), which was previously mechanistically linked to Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF) formation in oncogene-induced senescence. Particularly, we examined contribution of cytokine signaling to PML regulation in response to diverse drugs including clinically used anti-cancer chemotherapeutics.

4.3 Publication 1

Evangelou, K., Bartkova, J., Kotsinas, A., Pateras, I.S., Liontos, M., Velimezi, G., <u>Kosar, M.</u>, Liloglou, T., Trougakos, I.P., Dyrskjot, L., Andersen, C., Papaioannou, M., Drosos, Y., Papafotiou, G., Hodny, Z., Sosa-Pineda, B., Wu, X.R., Klinakis, A., Orntoft, T., Lukas, J., Bartek, J., Gorgoulis V.G. (2013). The DNA damage checkpoint precedes activation of ARF in response to escalating oncogenic stress during tumorigenesis. Cell Death Differ. 20, 1485-1497.

4.4 Publication 2

Kosar, M., Bartkova, J., Hubackova, S., Hodny, Z., Lukas, J., Bartek, J. (2011). Senescenceassociated heterochromatin foci are dispensable for cellular senescence, occur in a cell typeand insult-dependent manner and follow expression of p16 (ink4a). Cell Cycle 10:3, 457-468.

4.5 Publication 3

Novakova, Z., Hubackova, S., <u>Kosar, M.</u>, Janderova-Rossmeislova, L., Dobrovolna, J., Vasicova, P., Vancurova, M., Horejsi, Z., Hozak, P., Bartek, J., Hodny, Z. (2010). Cytokine expression and signaling in drug-induced cellular senescence. Oncogene 29, 273-284.

4.6 Publication 4

Hubackova, S., Novakova, Z., Krejcikova, K., <u>Kosar, M.</u>, Dobrovolna, J., Duskova, P., Hanzlikova, H., Vancurova, M., Barath, P., Bartek, J., Hodny, Z. (2010). Regulation of the PML tumor suppressor in drug-induced senescence of human normal and cancer cells by JAK/STAT-mediated signaling. Cell Cycle 9:15, 3085-3099.

4.7 Discussion

<u>1. The DNA damage checkpoint precedes activation of ARF in response to escalating</u> oncogenic stress during tumorigenesis

Oncogene activation can lead to premature senescence or apoptosis via activation of the p53 pathway (Collado and Serrano, 2010; Halazonetis et al., 2008). Although the DNA damage response (DDR) and alternative reading frame (ARF) pathways are known to trigger p53 during oncogenic stress (Bartkova et al., 2005; Bartkova et al., 2006; Gorgoulis et al., 2005; Sherr, 2012; Sherr and Weber, 2000), precise mechanisms of any functional interplay between these two anti-cancer barriers remain unclear.

To shed light on this issue, in the first part of this study we asked whether DDR and ARF are triggered concurrently or at different stages of cancer development. *In vivo* analysis of several experimental mouse models showed that DDR markers are expressed earlier than ARF during progression of premalignant lesions to malignancy. Analysis of human samples of head and neck, skin, urinary bladder and pancreatic lesions during cancer progression lead us to the same conclusion. Overall, results in the first part of our study showed that DDR activation preceded ARF induction and ARF thus likely provides a delayed checkpoint-barrier during cancer development.

Next, we asked why ARF signaling is not active during initial steps of cancer development. To answer this question we employed human bronchial epithelial cells (HBECs) and BJ fibroblast models *in vitro*, into which various oncogens were sequentially introduced. While DDR activation was evident upon expression of single oncogene (e.g. a mutant, p16-insensitive CDK4) in HBECs, ARF activation required an additional oncogenic event, here provided by mutant KRAS. Experiments with BJ fibroblasts led to the same conclusion, because even though DDR was activated upon expression of one oncogene (β -catenin or HRAS, respectively), ARF was induced only upon combined (concomitant) transformation by β -catenin together with HRAS. Importantly, even prolonged expression of the single oncogene (HRAS) in BJ fibroblasts was not sufficient to induce ARF activation, in contrast to efficient induction of the DDR. These data indicate that ARF provide a less-

sensitive tumor suppressor barrier than DDR. At the same time, late upregulation of ARF, which was observed during cancer development *in vivo*, could be a consequence of accumulating oncogenic insults.

To examine the relative 'biological' contributions of DDR versus ARF pathways under conditions of increased oncogenic load, we first co-expressed β -catenin and HRAS in BJ fibroblasts. Next, we silenced either DDR or AFR or both pathways at the same time. While inhibition of single pathway led to the partial bypass of cellular senescence, concomitant silencing of ARF and DDR was more potent.

Overall, our results suggest that ARF provides complementary and delayed barrier against the risk of malignant transformation and, when activated, it acts in concert with the DDR.

A potential crosstalk between the DDR and ARF pathways has been recently described in two studies. First of them focused on the role of MRE11 in oncogene induced senescence (Gupta et al., 2013). MRE11 is a known sensor of DNA double-strand breaks, which plays a role in the activation of the DDR (Stracker and Petrini, 2011). Authors showed that in response to oncogene expression, the MRE11 complex mediates the G2 arrest in mouse mammary hyperplasia via DDR activation. Impairment of MRE11 functions, and thus DDR, lead to progression of hyperplasias into aggressive and metastatic breast cancers. Importantly, hypomorphic mutations in the MRE11 complex components caused oncogene-dependent activation of the ARF pathway and selection for Ink4a-ARF locus inactivation was observed at later stages of tumor development (Gupta et al., 2013).

The other recent study also suggests a close interplay between the DNA damage response and ARF pathways (Velimezi et al., 2013). ATM, the prominent DNA damage response kinase, can suppress ARF protein levels and activity in oncogene-transformed and cancer cells. The authors proposed that ATM activates protein phosphatase 1 (PP1), which antagonizes NEK2-dependent phosphorylation of nucleophosmin (NPM). PP1-dependent dephosphorylation of NPM weakens the interaction between ARF and NPM, and the liberated ARF was subsequently susceptible to proteasome degradation. On the contrary, ATM inhibition enhanced ARF levels and promoted p53-dependent tumor suppressor functions of ARF. Data from human clinical samples showed that reduced expression of ATM at advanced

stages of tumor progression correlated with increased ARF protein levels in lung carcinomas. In conclusion, this publication supports the role of ARF as a secondary anti-cancer barrier, which can be particularly activated upon loss of ATM (Velimezi et al., 2013).

2. Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci are dispensable for cellular senescence, occur in a cell type- and insult-dependent manner and follow expression of p16 (ink4a)

Senescence-associated foci (SAHF) were first described by Narita and Lowe, who observed SAHF formation upon oncogenic RAS activation in human diploid fibroblasts IMR90 (Narita et al., 2003). This pioneering work was later followed by several other studies, which were mostly focused on the mechanism of SAHF formation in oncogene-induced senescence (Ye et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2005).

Since the previous publications used only few strains of human fibroblasts, data regarding SAHF formation in a broader spectrum of cell types, especially the cancer highly relevant human epithelial cells, were lacking. At the same time there was lack of information about any significance of SAHF formation in senescence caused by diverse stimuli. Since a universal marker of cellular senescence has not been identified yet, another important issue was the potential applicability of SAHF as a biomarker of senescence *in vivo*.

In order to extend the studies published previously and to answer the above-mentioned open questions we decided to systematically compare the ability to form SAHF in various types of normal human cells exposed to different senescence-inducing stimuli. Moreover, we have analyzed SAHF formation in premalignant and malignant human lesions.

Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci formation accompanied by silencing genes that drive cell cycle progression has been considered to be critical for induction of senescence (Narita et al., 2003). However, our data implies that SAHF are not a common feature of the senescence program and that there is a strong variation in SAHF formation depending on cell type and senescence stimulus. Although SAHF formation upon oncogenic RAS expression was obvious in all tested cell strains (BJ, MRC5 and normal human keratinocytes), only MRC5 were able to form SAHF in response to chemotherapeutic drugs (hydroxyurea, etoposide, doxorubicin), excessive rounds of cell division or bacterial intoxication (HdCDT). Importantly, markers of cellular senescence (SA- β -gal expression, diminished BrdU incorporation, DDR activation) were present in all strains upon all senescence insults. Therefore this part of our study lead us to the conclusion that some types of cellular senescence can be established in the absence of SAHF formation.

This conceptually important observation was recently confirmed also by several other authors. First of them noticed that although BJ fibroblasts became senescent following telomere shortening, exposure to ionizing radiation or H_2O_2 treatment, detectable SAHF were missing (Di Micco et al., 2011). Variable and partly cell-type specific compaction of DNA was observed also by Contrepois (Contrepois et al., 2012), who studied the interplay between regulation of deacetylation of histone H4-K16Ac and heterochromatin assembly during senescence.

Finally, a recent study that focused on evaluation of markers and their development and specifity in replicative senescence, revealed the lack of SAHF formation in BJ fibroblasts in contrast to MRC5 (Schauble et al., 2012).

The second key aspect of our study was the critical role of the p16^{INK4a}-RB pathway in SAHF formation. Importance of the p16^{INK4a}-RB pathway in SAHF development upon oncogene activation had been proposed previously (Narita et al., 2003; Ye et al., 2007). We have systematically tested any correlation between SAHF and p16^{INK4a} induction in MRC5 and BJ fibroblasts, undergoing senescence induced by different stimuli. Biochemical analysis of p16^{INK4a} expression in BJ cells revealed increased p16^{INK4a} expression only upon oncogenic RAS activation, the only type of cellular senescence where we detected SAHF. In contrast, MRC5 showed increased p16^{INK4a} levels in all types of senescence. Moreover, there was a perfect correlation between the level of p16^{INK4a} expression and SAHF formation. These results are in line with the proposed role of the p16^{INK4a}-RB axis in SAHF development (Narita et al., 2003).

Finally, our data are also relevant to the biological role of senescence as anti-cancer barrier (Bartek et al., 2007; Campisi, 2005). Enhanced heterochromatinization in clinical samples of premalignant human lesions detected by H3K9Me and HP1 was reported previously (Bartkova et al., 2006). Whether heterochromatinization is accompanied by the presence of DNA/DAPI-defined SAHF in such human samples has not been investigated before. Although examination of paraffin sections of formalin-fixed pellets of senescent BJ cells with oncogenic RAS expression revealed presence of DNA/DAPI-defined SAHF (used as a positive control scenatio), we were unable to detect any clear DNA/DAPI-defined SAHF on tissue sections of normal human colon, adenomas and carcinomas. At the same time heterochromatin markers H3K9Me and HP1 were present in these tissue samples. Thus, heterochromatin domains observed in human tissues appear to be different from the DNA/DAPI-defined SAHF which can be detected in cell culture models. Although precise mechanistic understanding of differences in heterochromatin biology in premalignant human lesions and cell culture models will require more studies, it is clear that identification of senescent cells through detection of the DNA/DAPI-defined SAHF may not be applicable in human lesions.

3. Cytokine expression and signaling in drug-induced cellular senescence

One of the features of cellular senescence is the striking change in gene expression of many secreted proteins (Bavik et al., 2006; Wajapeyee et al., 2008). To date, more than fifty cytokines have been found to be secreted by senescent cells (Davalos et al., 2010). Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) has been previously investigated mainly in replicative and oncogene-induced senescence (Acosta et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008; Shelton et al., 1999). In order to extend our current knowledge about the role of SASP in premature senescence, we decided to examine cytokine secretion in cells treated by various genotoxic drugs, including those used in cancer chemotherapy.

In agreement with previously published data (Michishita et al., 1999; Suzuki et al., 2002), long-term administration of BrdU and DMA led to premature senescence of cancer cells. Interestingly, we found that treatment with those chemicals persistently activates the IFN β -JAK/STAT signaling pathway. This pathway was previously shown to be transiently evoked in response to virus infection, where infection leads to secretion of interferons which contributes to establishment of a positive regulatory loop via an autocrine/paracrine mechanism (Honda et al., 2005). Beside prolonged activation of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway, we found up-regulated expression of many other secreted proteins such as ISG15,

PML, MX1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-24. Our results inspired two conceptually important conclusions. First, the spectrum of proteins secreted by senescent cells is much broader than published previously (Acosta et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008). Second, secretion of diverse proteins is probably common in all major types of cellular senescence.

It has been shown, that cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 are directly involved in the establishment and maintenance of oncogene-induced senescence and depletion of both cytokines abolished the senescence phenotype (Acosta et al., 2008; Kuilman et al., 2008). Whereas we did find IL-6 and IL-8 expressed in genotoxic drugs-induced senescence, in our hands depletion of IL-6 was unable to overcome senescence. Moreover, markers of senescence such as pS15p53, p21 and RB, were present even after inhibition of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway through depletion of kinases of JAK family or treatment with a JAK specific inhibitor. Thus, in contrast to the previously published role of IL-6 in oncogeneinduced senescence, our data indicate that IL-6 and JAK mediated signaling are not essential for maintenance of drug-induced senescence. It has been shown, that DNA damage signaling is essential for maintenance of diverse types of senescence (Campisi and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Halazonetis et al., 2008). At the same time, a certain threshold level of DNA damage is necessary for activation of cellular senescence (Bartek et al., 2007). Therefore, we speculate, that the observed different outcomes of IL-6 depletion in drug-induced senescence versus senescence evoked by the BRAF oncogene (Kuilman et al., 2008), could be explain by different DNA damage thresholds in such distinct biological settings. Particularly, if DNA damage level is lower in BRAF-induced senescence, one possibility is, that cells need to boost the cell cycle arrest using other pathways such as IL-6 signaling. In contrast, the high level of DNA damage after drug administration is sufficient to maintain genotoxic-stress induced senescence without IL-6 signaling.

Taken together, findings presented in this study extend our knowledge about proteins secreted during genotoxic drug-induced cellular senescence. Because many of the secreted proteins that we found are known to play roles in the immune system and tumor suppression, our data are highly relevant to cancer therapies.

<u>4. Regulation of the PML tumor suppressor in drug-induced senescence of human normal and cancer cells by JAK/STAT-mediated signaling</u>

Critical roles of the tumor suppressor PML in several processes related to tumor suppression have been described extensively (Chen et al., 2012). Beside the other PML functions, such as regulation of apoptosis or cell migration, there are several reports showing that PML induction and formation of PML NBs is a common feature of replicative, oncogeneor bacterial-induced senescence (Blazkova et al., 2010; Ferbeyre et al., 2000; Janderova-Rossmeislova et al., 2007).

Our previous work, where we reported induction of a senescence-associated secretory phenotype upon cell exposure to diverse genotoxic compounds, revealed prolonged activation of JAK/STAT signaling and upregulation of numerous important tumor suppressors including PML (Novakova et al., 2010). At the same time, it is known that the PML promoter contains sequences (ISREs, GAS) which can bind STAT transcription factors (Stadler et al., 1995). Therefore we decided to investigate whether PML expression is directly regulated by the JAK/STAT signaling pathway in drug-induced senescence.

First, we showed that treatment with diverse genotoxic drugs (BrdU, Thymidine, Distamicin, Etoposide, Aphidicoli and Campthotecin) leads to higher numbers of PML NBs in normal fibroblasts and also in human cancer cell lines. Multiplication of PML NBs was accompanied by increases in both PML protein and also mRNA levels. At the same time, there was no difference in PML protein stability as revealed by treatment with cycloheximide, a known inhibitor of de novo protein synthesis. Taken together, those data showed that the observed increase of PML NBs can be attributed to enhanced PML expression after treatment with genotoxic drugs.

Next we asked, whether expression of PML in drug-induced senescence requires JAK/STAT signaling. Indeed, chemically or genetically down-regulated signaling via JAK led to decreased levels of PML mRNA in drug-induced senescent cells. Two STAT binding sites (ISREs and GAS) in the PML gene promoter were published previously (Stadler et al., 1995), therefore we asked, which (if any) of them is required for transcription of PML after

genotoxic stress. Data obtained by gel retardation assay revealed that the STAT binding that contributes to PML expression requires ISRE-mediated transcription. This result was also confirmed by a reporter assay with the PML promoter containing or lacking the ISRE element, respectively.

It has been published that the PML promoter contains, besides the STAT binding sites, also a p53 response element and, furthermore PML transcription can be controlled by p53 in oncogene-induced senescence (de Stanchina et al., 1998; Stadler et al., 1995). Therefore, we decided to investigate whether PML expression via JAK/STAT signaling relies on transcriptional activity of p53. For that, we used two different systems. First, human cell lines HCT-116 with wild-type or deleted p53 were treated with thymidine in the presence or absence of a JAK inhibitor. In this setup, PML expression was inhibited by JAK inhibition in both cell lines, showing that indeed JAK/STAT signaling is crucial for regulation of PML transcription upon genotoxic stress, regardless of p53 expression. Second, we used the U2OS cell line conditionally expressing (or not) the dominant-negative tumor suppressor p53, which were published previously (Thullberg et al., 2000). Because also in this case there was no significant difference in levels of PML expression, we conclude, that in this case, transcriptional activation of PML upon genotoxic stress is not dependent on p53.

Many types of cellular senescence are maintained by persistent DNA damage signaling, which can reflect irreparability of some types of DNA lesions (von Zglinicki et al., 2004). Previous studies showed that PML NBs co-localized with sites of persistent DNA damage foci after ionizing radiation (Carbone et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2003). These types of lesions are usually positive for markers of DNA double strand breaks such as γ H2AX and 53BP1 (Rogakou et al., 1998; Schultz et al., 2000). Although in our experiments cells were treated with genotoxic drugs instead of ionizing-radiation, consistently with previous studies PML NBs also co-localized with persistent DNA damage foci.

The exact purpose for the co-localization of PML NBs with persistent DNA damage foci needs to be investigated. One possible scenario is that PML NBs, known sites of localization of chromatin-modifying proteins such as HP1 (Zhang et al., 2005) and HDACs (Wu et al., 2001), can promote changes in chromatin architecture surrounding DSB to impact persistent DNA damage signaling. In support of this idea, recently published work showed

that PML NBs can represent the site of chromatin remodeling that regulates transcriptional activity of the E2F promoters through their recruitment into the close proximity of high concentrations of histone deacetylases (HDACs) (Vernier et al., 2011).

Overall, our study provides novel mechanistic insights into regulation of the tumor suppressor PML in cellular senescence caused by several genotoxic drugs used in clinical chemotherapy. These emerging links between cytokine signaling and PML can be important especially in the light of the fact that, unlike other forms of cellular senescence, drug-induced senescence can be evoked even in tumor cells and hence be exploited therapeutically.

5. CONCLUSIONS

The major aim of this work was to contribute to better understanding of several key aspects of cellular senescence. From a broader perspective, our data are highly relevant for complex processes such as development of cancer, aging, and response to clinical chemotherapy. We hope that our findings will positively stimulate further research in this exciting area of biomedicine.

The main conclusions of four publications presented in this PhD thesis can be shortly summarized as follows:

- Publication 1: Activation of DDR and ARF pathways in response to oncogenes
 - DDR activation occurs at earlier stage of tumor progression than ARF
 - DDR requires a lower threshold of oncogenic stress for its activation
 - ARF thus represents a delayed and complementary barrier to tumor progression
- **Publication 2:** Insights into chromatin changes during cellular senescence
 - Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci formation (SAHF) is not a universal feature of cellular senescence
 - SAHF occur in insult- and cell type-dependent manner
 - SAHF formation correlates well with p16^{INK4a} accumulation
 - SAHF are not markers applicable to studies *in vivo*
- Publication 3: Role of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) in druginduced senescence
 - Senescence induced by diverse genotoxic compounds is accompanied by secretion of a broad spectrum of secreted proteins including pro-inflammatory cytokines
 - Autocrine/paracrine signaling mediated by persistent activation of the JAK/STAT pathway regulates gene expression in senescent cells and contributes to maintenance of cytokine signaling

- Publication 4: Regulation of the tumor suppressor protein PML in drug-induced senescence
 - PML is regulated at the transcriptional level by JAK/STAT signaling via binding of the transcription factor STAT to the ISRE element in the PML gene promoter

6. REFERENCES

Acosta, J.C., O'Loghlen, A., Banito, A., Guijarro, M.V., Augert, A., Raguz, S., Fumagalli, M., Da Costa, M., Brown, C., Popov, N., *et al.* (2008). Chemokine signaling via the CXCR2 receptor reinforces senescence. Cell *133*, 1006-1018.

Adams, P.D. (2009). Healing and Hurting: Molecular Mechanisms, Functions, and Pathologies of Cellular Senescence. Molecular Cell *36*, 2-14.

Alcalay, M., Tomassoni, L., Colombo, E., Stoldt, S., Grignani, F., Fagioli, M., Szekely, L., Helin, K., and Pelicci, P.G. (1998). The promyelocytic leukemia gene product (PML) forms stable complexes with the retinoblastoma protein. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 1084-1093.

Aringer, M., Cheng, A., Nelson, J.W., Chen, M., Sudarshan, C., Zhou, Y.J., and O'Shea, J.J. (1999). Janus kinases and their role in growth and disease. Life Sci *64*, 2173-2186.

Baker, S.J., Rane, S.G., and Reddy, E.P. (2007). Hematopoietic cytokine receptor signaling. Oncogene *26*, 6724-6737.

Barr, S.M., Leung, C.G., Chang, E.E., and Cimprich, K.A. (2003). ATR kinase activity regulates the intranuclear translocation of ATR and RPA following ionizing radiation. Curr Biol *13*, 1047-1051.

Bartek, J., Hodny, Z., and Lukas, J. (2008). Cytokine loops driving senescence. Nat Cell Biol 10, 887-889.

Bartek, J., Lukas, J., and Bartkova, J. (2007). DNA damage response as an anti-cancer barrier - Damage threshold and the concept of 'conditional haploinsufficiency'. CELL CYCLE *6*, 2344-2347.

Bartkova, J., Horejsi, Z., Koed, K., Kramer, A., Tort, F., Zieger, K., Guldberg, P., Sehested, M., Nesland, J.M., Lukas, C., *et al.* (2005). DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. Nature *434*, 864-870.

Bartkova, J., Rezaei, N., Liontos, M., Karakaidos, P., Kletsas, D., Issaeva, N., Vassiliou, L.-V.F., Kolettas, E., Niforou, K., Zoumpourlis, V.C., *et al.* (2006). Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints. Nature *444*, 633-637.

Bates, S., Phillips, A.C., Clark, P.A., Stott, F., Peters, G., Ludwig, R.L., and Vousden, K.H. (1998). p14ARF links the tumour suppressors RB and p53. Nature *395*, 124-125.

Bavik, C., Coleman, I., Dean, J.P., Knudsen, B., Plymate, S., and Nelson, P.S. (2006). The gene expression program of prostate fibroblast senescence modulates neoplastic epithelial cell proliferation through paracrine mechanisms. Cancer Res *66*, 794-802.

Beckerman, R., and Prives, C. (2010). Transcriptional regulation by p53. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology *2*, a000935.

Bekker-Jensen, S., Lukas, C., Kitagawa, R., Melander, F., Kastan, M.B., Bartek, J., and Lukas, J. (2006). Spatial organization of the mammalian genome surveillance machinery in response to DNA strand breaks. The Journal of Cell Biology *173*, 195-206.

Bernardi, R., Scaglioni, P.P., Bergmann, S., Horn, H.F., Vousden, K.H., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2004). PML regulates p53 stability by sequestering Mdm2 to the nucleolus. Nat Cell Biol *6*, 665-672.

Bischof, O., Kim, S.H., Irving, J., Beresten, S., Ellis, N.A., and Campisi, J. (2001). Regulation and localization of the Bloom syndrome protein in response to DNA damage. J Cell Biol *153*, 367-380.

Blasco, M.A. (2005). Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 6, 611 - 622.

Blazkova, H., Krejcikova, K., Moudry, P., Frisan, T., Hodny, Z., and Bartek, J. (2010). Bacterial intoxication evokes cellular senescence with persistent DNA damage and cytokine signalling. J Cell Mol Med *14*, 357-367.

Bodnar, A.G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S.E., Chiu, C.P., Morin, G.B., Harley, C.B., Shay, J.W., Lichtsteiner, S., and Wright, W.E. (1998). Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science *279*, 349-352.

Campisi, J. (2005). Senescent Cells, Tumor Suppression, and Organismal Aging: Good Citizens, Bad Neighbors. Cell *120*, 513-522.

Campisi, J., and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *8*, 729-740.

Canman, C.E., Lim, D.S., Cimprich, K.A., Taya, Y., Tamai, K., Sakaguchi, K., Appella, E., Kastan, M.B., and Siliciano, J.D. (1998). Activation of the ATM kinase by ionizing radiation and phosphorylation of p53. Science *281*, 1677-1679.

Carbone, R., Pearson, M., Minucci, S., and Pelicci, P.G. (2002). PML NBs associate with the hMre11 complex and p53 at sites of irradiation induced DNA damage. Oncogene *21*, 1633-1640.

Celeste, A., Petersen, S., Romanienko, P.J., Fernandez-Capetillo, O., Chen, H.T., Sedelnikova, O.A., Reina-San-Martin, B., Coppola, V., Meffre, E., Difilippantonio, M.J., *et al.* (2002). Genomic instability in mice lacking histone H2AX. Science *296*, 922-927.

Chan, H.M., Narita, M., Lowe, S.W., and Livingston, D.M. (2005). The p400 E1A-associated protein is a novel component of the p53 â[†] p21 senescence pathway. Genes & Development *19*, 196-201.

Chan, S.W., Chang, J., Prescott, J., and Blackburn, E.H. (2001). Altering telomere structure allows telomerase to act in yeast lacking ATM kinases. Curr Biol *11*, 1240-1250.

Chang, B.D., Broude, E.V., Dokmanovic, M., Zhu, H., Ruth, A., Xuan, Y., Kandel, E.S., Lausch, E., Christov, K., and Roninson, I.B. (1999a). A senescence-like phenotype distinguishes tumor cells that undergo terminal proliferation arrest after exposure to anticancer agents. Cancer Res *59*, 3761-3767.

Chang, B.D., Swift, M.E., Shen, M., Fang, J., Broude, E.V., and Roninson, I.B. (2002). Molecular determinants of terminal growth arrest induced in tumor cells by a chemotherapeutic agent. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *99*, 389-394.

Chang, B.D., Xuan, Y., Broude, E.V., Zhu, H., Schott, B., Fang, J., and Roninson, I.B. (1999b). Role of p53 and p21waf1/cip1 in senescence-like terminal proliferation arrest induced in human tumor cells by chemotherapeutic drugs. Oncogene *18*, 4808-4818.

Chen, Q., and Ames, B.N. (1994). Senescence-like growth arrest induced by hydrogen peroxide in human diploid fibroblast F65 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 4130-4134.

Chen, R.H., Lee, Y.R., and Yuan, W.C. (2012). The role of PML ubiquitination in human malignancies. Journal of biomedical science 19, 81.

Chen, Z., Trotman, L.C., Shaffer, D., Lin, H.K., Dotan, Z.A., Niki, M., Koutcher, J.A., Scher, H.I., Ludwig, T., Gerald, W., *et al.* (2005). Crucial role of p53-dependent cellular senescence in suppression of Pten-deficient tumorigenesis. Nature *436*, 725-730.

Chien, Y., Scuoppo, C., Wang, X., Fang, X., Balgley, B., Bolden, J.E., Premsrirut, P., Luo, W., Chicas, A., Lee, C.S., *et al.* (2011). Control of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype by NF-kappaB promotes senescence and enhances chemosensitivity. Genes Dev *25*, 2125-2136.

Collado, M., Gil, J., Efeyan, A., Guerra, C., Schuhmacher, A.J., Barradas, M., Benguria, A., Zaballos, A., Flores, J.M., Barbacid, M., *et al.* (2005). Tumour biology: Senescence in premalignant tumours. Nature *436*, 642-642.

Collado, M., and Serrano, M. (2010). Senescence in tumours: evidence from mice and humans. Nat Rev Cancer 10, 51-57.

Conlan, L.A., McNees, C.J., and Heierhorst, J. (2004). Proteasome-dependent dispersal of PML nuclear bodies in response to alkylating DNA damage. Oncogene *23*, 307-310.

Contrepois, K., Thuret, J.Y., Courbeyrette, R., Fenaille, F., and Mann, C. (2012). Deacetylation of H4-K16Ac and heterochromatin assembly in senescence. Epigenetics & chromatin 5, 15.

Coppe, J.P., Patil, C.K., Rodier, F., Sun, Y., Munoz, D.P., Goldstein, J., Nelson, P.S., Desprez, P.Y., and Campisi, J. (2008). Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotypes Reveal Cell-Nonautonomous Functions of Oncogenic RAS and the p53 Tumor Suppressor. PLoS. Biol. *6*, 2853-2868.

Courtois-Cox, S., Williams, S.M.G., Reczek, E.E., Johnson, B.W., McGillicuddy, L.T., Johannessen, C.M., Hollstein, P.E., MacCollin, M., and Cichowski, K. (2006). A negative feedback signaling network underlies oncogene-induced senescence. Cancer Cell *10*, 459-472.

d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2008). Living on a break: cellular senescence as a DNA-damage response. Nat Rev Cancer 8, 512-522.

Dankort, D., Filenova, E., Collado, M., Serrano, M., Jones, K., and McMahon, M. (2007). A new mouse model to explore the initiation, progression, and therapy of BRAFV600E-induced lung tumors. Genes Dev *21*, 379-384.

Davalos, A.R., Coppe, J.P., Campisi, J., and Desprez, P.Y. (2010). Senescent cells as a source of inflammatory factors for tumor progression. Cancer metastasis reviews *29*, 273-283.

de Stanchina, E., McCurrach, M.E., Zindy, F., Shieh, S.-Y., Ferbeyre, G., Samuelson, A.V., Prives, C., Roussel, M.F., Sherr, C.J., and Lowe, S.W. (1998). E1A signaling to p53 involves the p19ARFtumor suppressor. Genes & Development *12*, 2434-2442.

de Stanchina, E., Querido, E., Narita, M., Davuluri, R.V., Pandolfi, P.P., Ferbeyre, G., and Lowe, S.W. (2004). PML is a direct p53 target that modulates p53 effector functions. Mol Cell *13*, 523-535.

de The, H., Chomienne, C., Lanotte, M., Degos, L., and Dejean, A. (1990). The t(15;17) translocation of acute promyelocytic leukaemia fuses the retinoic acid receptor alpha gene to a novel transcribed locus. Nature *347*, 558-561.

Dellaire, G., Ching, R.W., Ahmed, K., Jalali, F., Tse, K.C., Bristow, R.G., and Bazett-Jones, D.P. (2006). Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies behave as DNA damage sensors whose response to DNA double-strand breaks is regulated by NBS1 and the kinases ATM, Chk2, and ATR. J Cell Biol *175*, 55-66.

Denchi, E.L., Attwooll, C., Pasini, D., and Helin, K. (2005). Deregulated E2F Activity Induces Hyperplasia and Senescence-Like Features in the Mouse Pituitary Gland. Mol. Cell. Biol. *25*, 2660-2672.

Dhomen, N., Reis-Filho, J.S., da Rocha Dias, S., Hayward, R., Savage, K., Delmas, V., Larue, L., Pritchard, C., and Marais, R. (2009). Oncogenic Braf induces melanocyte senescence and melanoma in mice. Cancer Cell *15*, 294-303.

di Fagagna, F.D., Reaper, P.M., Clay-Farrace, L., Fiegler, H., Carr, P., von Zglinicki, T., Saretzki, G., Carter, N.P., and Jackson, S.P. (2003). A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence. Nature *426*, 194-198.

Di Leonardo, A., Linke, S.P., Clarkin, K., and Wahl, G.M. (1994). DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53-dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts. Genes Dev. *8*, 2540-2551.

Di Micco, R., Fumagalli, M., Cicalese, A., Piccinin, S., Gasparini, P., Luise, C., Schurra, C., Garre, M., Nuciforo, P.G., Bensimon, A., *et al.* (2006). Oncogene-induced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyper-replication. Nature *444*, 638-642.

Di Micco, R., Sulli, G., Dobreva, M., Liontos, M., Botrugno, O.A., Gargiulo, G., dal Zuffo, R., Matti, V., d'Ario, G., Montani, E., *et al.* (2011). Interplay between oncogene-induced DNA damage response and heterochromatin in senescence and cancer. Nat Cell Biol *13*, 292-302.

Dimri, G.P., Lee, X., Basile, G., Acosta, M., Scott, G., Roskelley, C., Medrano, E.E., Linskens, M., Rubelj, I., and Pereira-Smith, O. (1995). A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *92*, 9363-9367.

Dinarello, C.A. (2007). Historical insights into cytokines. European journal of immunology *37 Suppl 1*, S34-45.

Dominguez-Sola, D., Ying, C.Y., Grandori, C., Ruggiero, L., Chen, B., Li, M., Galloway, D.A., Gu, W., Gautier, J., and Dalla-Favera, R. (2007). Non-transcriptional control of DNA replication by c-Myc. Nature *448*, 445-451.

Donehower, L.A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B.L., McArthur, M.J., Montgomery, C.A., Jr., Butel, J.S., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature *356*, 215-221.

Duprez, E., Saurin, A.J., Desterro, J.M., Lallemand-Breitenbach, V., Howe, K., Boddy, M.N., Solomon, E., de The, H., Hay, R.T., and Freemont, P.S. (1999). SUMO-1 modification of the acute promyelocytic leukaemia protein PML: implications for nuclear localisation. J Cell Sci *112 (Pt 3)*, 381-393.

Evan, G.I., and di Fagagna, F.D. (2009). Cellular senescence: hot or what? Current Opinion in Genetics & Development *19*, 25-31.

Ferbeyre, G., de Stanchina, E., Querido, E., Baptiste, N., Prives, C., and Lowe, S.W. (2000). PML is induced by oncogenic ras and promotes premature senescence. Genes Dev. *14*, 2015-2027.

Fogal, V., Gostissa, M., Sandy, P., Zacchi, P., Sternsdorf, T., Jensen, K., Pandolfi, P.P., Will, H., Schneider, C., and Del Sal, G. (2000). Regulation of p53 activity in nuclear bodies by a specific PML isoform. EMBO J *19*, 6185-6195.

Funayama, R., Saito, M., Tanobe, H., and Ishikawa, F. (2006). Loss of linker histone H1 in cellular senescence. J. Cell Biol. *175*, 869-880.

Georgakopoulou, E.A., Tsimaratou, K., Evangelou, K., Fernandez Marcos, P.J., Zoumpourlis, V., Trougakos, I.P., Kletsas, D., Bartek, J., Serrano, M., and Gorgoulis, V.G. (2013). Specific lipofuscin staining as a novel biomarker to detect replicative and stress-induced senescence. A method applicable in cryo-preserved and archival tissues. Aging *5*, 37-50.

Gil, J., and Peters, G. (2006). Regulation of the INK4b-ARF-INK4a tumour suppressor locus: all for one or one for all. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7, 667-677.

Goldstein, S., Moerman, E.J., Fujii, S., and Sobel, B.E. (1994). Overexpression of plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1 in senescent fibroblasts from normal subjects and those with Werner syndrome. J Cell Physiol *161*, 571-579.

Goldstein, S., Moerman, E.J., Jones, R.A., and Baxter, R.C. (1991). Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 accumulates to high levels in culture medium of senescent and quiescent human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 9680-9684.

Gorgoulis, V.G., Vassiliou, L.V., Karakaidos, P., Zacharatos, P., Kotsinas, A., Liloglou, T., Venere, M., Ditullio, R.A., Jr., Kastrinakis, N.G., Levy, B., *et al.* (2005). Activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and genomic instability in human precancerous lesions. Nature *434*, 907-913.

Green, D.R., and Kroemer, G. (2009). Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature 458, 1127-1130.

Guiochon-Mantel, A., Savouret, J.F., Quignon, F., Delabre, K., Milgrom, E., and De The, H. (1995). Effect of PML and PML-RAR on the transactivation properties and subcellular distribution of steroid hormone receptors. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.) *9*, 1791-1803.

Gupta, G.P., Vanness, K., Barlas, A., Manova-Todorova, K.O., Wen, Y.H., and Petrini, J.H. (2013). The mre11 complex suppresses oncogene-driven breast tumorigenesis and metastasis. Mol Cell *52*, 353-365.

Halazonetis, T., Zgheib, O., Gorgoulis, V., and Bartek, J. (2008). An oncogene-induced DNA replication stress model for human cancer development. EJC Suppl. *6*, 63-64.

Han, Z., Wei, W., Dunaway, S., Darnowski, J.W., Calabresi, P., Sedivy, J., Hendrickson, E.A., Balan, K.V., Pantazis, P., and Wyche, J.H. (2002). Role of p21 in apoptosis and senescence of human colon cancer cells treated with camptothecin. J Biol Chem 277, 17154-17160.

Harbour, J.W., Luo, R.X., Dei Santi, A., Postigo, A.A., and Dean, D.C. (1999). Cdk phosphorylation triggers sequential intramolecular interactions that progressively block Rb functions as cells move through G1. Cell *98*, 859-869.

Harley, C.B., Futcher, A.B., and Greider, C.W. (1990). Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature *345*, 458-460.

Haupt, Y., Maya, R., Kazaz, A., and Oren, M. (1997). Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature *387*, 296-299.

Hayflick, L. (1965). LIMITED IN VITRO LIFETIME OF HUMAN DIPLOID CELL STRAINS. Exp. Cell Res. 37, 614-&.

Hayflick, L. (2000). The illusion of cell immortality. Br J Cancer 83, 841-846.

Herbig, U., Jobling, W.A., Chen, B.P.C., Chen, D.J., and Sedivy, J.M. (2004). Telomere Shortening Triggers Senescence of Human Cells through a Pathway Involving ATM, p53, and p21CIP1, but Not p16INK4a. Molecular Cell *14*, 501-513.

Honda, K., Yanai, H., Takaoka, A., and Taniguchi, T. (2005). Regulation of the type I IFN induction: a current view. International immunology *17*, 1367-1378.

Honda, R., and Yasuda, H. (1999). Association of p19(ARF) with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. EMBO J *18*, 22-27.

Inoue, K., Roussel, M.F., and Sherr, C.J. (1999). Induction of ARF tumor suppressor gene expression and cell cycle arrest by transcription factor DMP1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 3993-3998.

Janderova-Rossmeislova, L., Novakova, Z., Vlasakova, J., Philimonenko, V., Hozak, P., and Hodny, Z. (2007). PML protein association with specific nucleolar structures differs in normal, tumor and senescent human cells. J Struct Biol *159*, 56-70.

Jatiani, S.S., Baker, S.J., Silverman, L.R., and Reddy, E.P. (2010). Jak/STAT pathways in cytokine signaling and myeloproliferative disorders: approaches for targeted therapies. Genes & cancer 1, 979-993.

Jensen, K., Shiels, C., and Freemont, P.S. (2001). PML protein isoforms and the RBCC/TRIM motif. Oncogene 20, 7223-7233.

Johnson, F.B., Lombard, D.B., Neff, N.F., Mastrangelo, M.A., Dewolf, W., Ellis, N.A., Marciniak, R.A., Yin, Y., Jaenisch, R., and Guarente, L. (2000). Association of the Bloom syndrome protein with topoisomerase IIIalpha in somatic and meiotic cells. Cancer Res *60*, 1162-1167.

Jung, T., Bader, N., and Grune, T. (2007). Lipofuscin: formation, distribution, and metabolic consequences. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1119*, 97-111.

Kakizuka, A., Miller, W.H., Jr., Umesono, K., Warrell, R.P., Jr., Frankel, S.R., Murty, V.V., Dmitrovsky, E., and Evans, R.M. (1991). Chromosomal translocation t(15;17) in human acute promyelocytic leukemia fuses RAR alpha with a novel putative transcription factor, PML. Cell *66*, 663-674.

Karlseder, J., Hoke, K., Mirzoeva, O.K., Bakkenist, C., Kastan, M.B., Petrini, J.H., and de Lange, T. (2004). The telomeric protein TRF2 binds the ATM kinase and can inhibit the ATM-dependent DNA damage response. PLoS Biol *2*, E240.

Kastner, P., Perez, A., Lutz, Y., Rochette-Egly, C., Gaub, M.P., Durand, B., Lanotte, M., Berger, R., and Chambon, P. (1992). Structure, localization and transcriptional properties of two classes of retinoic acid receptor alpha fusion proteins in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL): structural similarities with a new family of oncoproteins. EMBO J *11*, 629-642.

Khosravi, R., Maya, R., Gottlieb, T., Oren, M., Shiloh, Y., and Shkedy, D. (1999). Rapid ATM-dependent phosphorylation of MDM2 precedes p53 accumulation in response to DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 14973-14977.

Kubbutat, M.H., Jones, S.N., and Vousden, K.H. (1997). Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. Nature *387*, 299-303.

Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Mooi, W.J., and Peeper, D.S. (2010). The essence of senescence. Genes Dev 24, 2463-2479.

Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L.C.W., Douma, S., van Doorn, R., Desmet, C.J., Aarden, L.A., Mooi, W.J., and Peeper, D.S. (2008). Oncogene-Induced Senescence Relayed by an Interleukin-Dependent Inflammatory Network. Cell *133*, 1019-1031.

Lallemand-Breitenbach, V., and de The, H. (2010). PML nuclear bodies. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 2, a000661.

Land, H., Parada, L.F., and Weinberg, R.A. (1983). Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. Nature *304*, 596-602.

Lane, D.P. (1992). Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature 358, 15-16.

Lee, B.Y., Han, J.A., Im, J.S., Morrone, A., Johung, K., Goodwin, E.C., Kleijer, W.J., DiMaio, D., and Hwang, E.S. (2006). Senescence-associated beta-galactosidase is lysosomal beta-galactosidase. Aging Cell *5*, 187-195.

Liang, X., Guo, Y., Figg, W.D., Fojo, A.T., Mueller, M.D., and Yu, J.J. (2011). The Role of Wild-Type p53 in Cisplatin-Induced Chk2 Phosphorylation and the Inhibition of Platinum Resistance with a Chk2 Inhibitor. Chemotherapy research and practice *2011*, 715469.

Lin, A.W., Barradas, M., Stone, J.C., van Aelst, L., Serrano, M., and Lowe, S.W. (1998). Premature senescence involving p53 and p16 is activated in response to constitutive MEK/MAPK mitogenic signaling. Genes & Development *12*, 3008-3019.

Lombard, D.B., and Guarente, L. (2000). Nijmegen breakage syndrome disease protein and MRE11 at PML nuclear bodies and meiotic telomeres. Cancer Res *60*, 2331-2334.

Lowe, S.W., Cepero, E., and Evan, G. (2004). Intrinsic tumour suppression. Nature 432, 307-315.

Lukas, C., Falck, J., Bartkova, J., Bartek, J., and Lukas, J. (2003). Distinct spatiotemporal dynamics of mammalian checkpoint regulators induced by DNA damage. Nat Cell Biol *5*, 255-260.

Maier, J.A., Voulalas, P., Roeder, D., and Maciag, T. (1990). Extension of the life-span of human endothelial cells by an interleukin-1 alpha antisense oligomer. Science 249, 1570-1574.

Mallette, F.A., Goumard, S., Gaumont-Leclerc, M.F., Moiseeva, O., and Ferbeyre, G. (2004). Human fibroblasts require the Rb family of tumor suppressors, but not p53, for PML-induced senescence. Oncogene *23*, 91-99.

Maya, R., Balass, M., Kim, S.T., Shkedy, D., Leal, J.F., Shifman, O., Moas, M., Buschmann, T., Ronai, Z., Shiloh, Y., *et al.* (2001). ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. Genes Dev *15*, 1067-1077.

Melnick, A., and Licht, J.D. (1999). Deconstructing a disease: RARalpha, its fusion partners, and their roles in the pathogenesis of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood *93*, 3167-3215.

Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L.C., Soengas, M.S., Denoyelle, C., Kuilman, T., van der Horst, C.M., Majoor, D.M., Shay, J.W., Mooi, W.J., and Peeper, D.S. (2005). BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature *436*, 720-724.

Michishita, E., Nakabayashi, K., Suzuki, T., Kaul, S.C., Ogino, H., Fujii, M., Mitsui, Y., and Ayusawa, D. (1999). 5-Bromodeoxyuridine induces senescence-like phenomena in mammalian cells regardless of cell type or species. J Biochem *126*, 1052-1059.

Mirzoeva, O.K., and Petrini, J.H. (2001). DNA damage-dependent nuclear dynamics of the Mre11 complex. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 281-288.

Moiseeva, O., Mallette, F.A., Mukhopadhyay, U.K., Moores, A., and Ferbeyre, G. (2006). DNA Damage Signaling and p53-dependent Senescence after Prolonged beta-Interferon Stimulation. Mol. Biol. Cell *17*, 1583-1592.

Moll, U.M., and Petrenko, O. (2003). The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol Cancer Res 1, 1001-1008.

Narita, M., Krizhanovsky, V., Nunez, S., Chicas, A., Hearn, S.A., Myers, M.P., and Lowe, S.W. (2006). A novel role for high-mobility group A proteins in cellular senescence and heterochromatin formation. Cell *126*, 503-514.

Narita, M., Nuńez, S., Heard, E., Narita, M., Lin, A.W., Hearn, S.A., Spector, D.L., Hannon, G.J., and Lowe, S.W. (2003). Rb-Mediated Heterochromatin Formation and Silencing of E2F Target Genes during Cellular Senescence. Cell *113*, 703-716.

Nobori, T., Miura, K., Wu, D.J., Lois, A., Takabayashi, K., and Carson, D.A. (1994). Deletions of the cyclin-dependent kinase-4 inhibitor gene in multiple human cancers. Nature *368*, 753-756.

Novakova, Z., Hubackova, S., Kosar, M., Janderova-Rossmeislova, L., Dobrovolna, J., Vasicova, P., Vancurova, M., Horejsi, Z., Hozak, P., Bartek, J., *et al.* (2010). Cytokine expression and signaling in drug-induced cellular senescence. Oncogene *29*, 273-284.

Ohtani, N., Zebedee, Z., Huot, T.J.G., Stinson, J.A., Sugimoto, M., Ohashi, Y., Sharrocks, A.D., Peters, G., and Hara, E. (2001). Opposing effects of Ets and Id proteins on p16INK4a expression during cellular senescence. Nature *409*, 1067-1070.

Palmero, I., Pantoja, C., and Serrano, M. (1998). p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. Nature *395*, 125-126.

Pandolfi, P.P. (2001). Oncogenes and tumor suppressors in the molecular pathogenesis of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Hum Mol Genet *10*, 769-775.

Pearson, M., Carbone, R., Sebastiani, C., Cioce, M., Fagioli, M., Saito, S.i., Higashimoto, Y., Appella, E., Minucci, S., Pandolfi, P.P., *et al.* (2000). PML regulates p53 acetylation and premature senescence induced by oncogenic Ras. Nature *406*, 207-210.

Pearson, M., and Pelicci, P.G. (2001). PML interaction with p53 and its role in apoptosis and replicative senescence. Oncogene 20, 7250-7256.

Petitjean, A., Mathe, E., Kato, S., Ishioka, C., Tavtigian, S.V., Hainaut, P., and Olivier, M. (2007). Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. Human mutation *28*, 622-629.

Picksley, S.M., and Lane, D.P. (1993). The p53-mdm2 autoregulatory feedback loop: a paradigm for the regulation of growth control by p53? Bioessays *15*, 689-690.

Quelle, D.E., Zindy, F., Ashmun, R.A., and Sherr, C.J. (1995). Alternative reading frames of the INK4a tumor suppressor gene encode two unrelated proteins capable of inducing cell cycle arrest. Cell *83*, 993-1000.

Rayess, H., Wang, M.B., and Srivatsan, E.S. (2012). Cellular senescence and tumor suppressor gene p16. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer 130, 1715-1725.

Rebbaa, A. (2005). Targeting senescence pathways to reverse drug resistance in cancer. Cancer Lett 219, 1-13.

Rebbaa, A., Zheng, X., Chou, P.M., and Mirkin, B.L. (2003). Caspase inhibition switches doxorubicin-induced apoptosis to senescence. Oncogene *22*, 2805-2811.

Robles, S.J., and Adami, G.R. (1998). Agents that cause DNA double strand breaks lead to p16(INK4a) enrichment and the premature senescence of normal fibrolasts. Oncogene *16*, 1113-1123.

Rogakou, E.P., Pilch, D.R., Orr, A.H., Ivanova, V.S., and Bonner, W.M. (1998). DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139. J Biol Chem 273, 5858-5868.

Ryan, J.M., and Cristofalo, V.J. (1972). Histone acetylation during aging of human cells in culture. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *48*, 735-742.

Sarkisian, C.J., Keister, B.A., Stairs, D.B., Boxer, R.B., Moody, S.E., and Chodosh, L.A. (2007). Dose-dependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis. Nat Cell Biol *9*, 493-505.

Scaglioni, P.P., Rabellino, A., Yung, T.M., Bernardi, R., Choi, S., Konstantinidou, G., Nardella, C., Cheng, K., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2012). Translation-dependent mechanisms lead to PML upregulation and mediate oncogenic K-RAS-induced cellular senescence. EMBO Mol Med *4*, 594-602.

Scaglioni, P.P., Yung, T.M., Cai, L.F., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Kaufman, A.J., Singh, B., Teruya-Feldstein, J., Tempst, P., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2006). A CK2-dependent mechanism for degradation of the PML tumor suppressor. Cell *126*, 269-283.

Schauble, S., Klement, K., Marthandan, S., Munch, S., Heiland, I., Schuster, S., Hemmerich, P., and Diekmann, S. (2012). Quantitative model of cell cycle arrest and cellular senescence in primary human fibroblasts. PLoS One 7, e42150.

Schultz, L.B., Chehab, N.H., Malikzay, A., and Halazonetis, T.D. (2000). p53 binding protein 1 (53BP1) is an early participant in the cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks. J Cell Biol *151*, 1381-1390.

Serrano, M., Hannon, G.J., and Beach, D. (1993). A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. Nature *366*, 704-707.

Serrano, M., Lin, A.W., McCurrach, M.E., Beach, D., and Lowe, S.W. (1997). Oncogenic ras Provokes Premature Cell Senescence Associated with Accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. Cell *88*, 593-602.

Shay, J.W., Tomlinson, G., Piatyszek, M.A., and Gollahon, L.S. (1995). Spontaneous in vitro immortalization of breast epithelial cells from a patient with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Mol Cell Biol *15*, 425-432.

Shelton, D.N., Chang, E., Whittier, P.S., Choi, D., and Funk, W.D. (1999). Microarray analysis of replicative senescence. Current Biology *9*, 939-945.

Sherr, C.J. (2012). Ink4-Arf locus in cancer and aging. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. Developmental biology *1*, 731-741.

Sherr, C.J., and Roberts, J.M. (1999). CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. Genes Dev *13*, 1501-1512.

Sherr, C.J., and Weber, J.D. (2000). The ARF/p53 pathway. Curr Opin Genet Dev *10*, 94-99. Shieh, S.Y., Ikeda, M., Taya, Y., and Prives, C. (1997). DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell *91*, 325-334.

Sreeramaneni, R., Chaudhry, A., McMahon, M., Sherr, C.J., and Inoue, K. (2005). Ras-Raf-Arf signaling critically depends on the Dmp1 transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol *25*, 220-232. Srivastava, S., Zou, Z.Q., Pirollo, K., Blattner, W., and Chang, E.H. (1990). Germ-line transmission of a mutated p53 gene in a cancer-prone family with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Nature *348*, 747-749.

Stadler, M., Chelbi-Alix, M.K., Koken, M.H., Venturini, L., Lee, C., Saib, A., Quignon, F., Pelicano, L., Guillemin, M.C., Schindler, C., *et al.* (1995). Transcriptional induction of the PML growth suppressor gene by interferons is mediated through an ISRE and a GAS element. Oncogene *11*, 2565-2573.

Stein, G.H., Beeson, M., and Gordon, L. (1990). Failure to phosphorylate the retinoblastoma gene product in senescent human fibroblasts. Science 249, 666-669.

Stracker, T.H., and Petrini, J.H. (2011). The MRE11 complex: starting from the ends. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *12*, 90-103.

Suzuki, T., Michishita, E., Ogino, H., Fujii, M., and Ayusawa, D. (2002). Synergistic induction of the senescence-associated genes by 5-bromodeoxyuridine and AT-binding ligands in HeLa cells. Exp Cell Res *276*, 174-184.

Takai, H., Smogorzewska, A., and de Lange, T. (2003). DNA Damage Foci at Dysfunctional Telomeres. Current Biology *13*, 1549-1556.

Tao, H., Simmons, B.N., Singireddy, S., Jakkidi, M., Short, K.M., Cox, T.C., and Massiah, M.A. (2008). Structure of the MID1 tandem B-boxes reveals an interaction reminiscent of intermolecular ring heterodimers. Biochemistry *47*, 2450-2457.

Tao, W., and Levine, A.J. (1999). P19(ARF) stabilizes p53 by blocking nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of Mdm2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 6937-6941.

te Poele, R.H., Okorokov, A.L., Jardine, L., Cummings, J., and Joel, S.P. (2002). DNA Damage Is Able to Induce Senescence in Tumor Cells in Vitro and in Vivo. Cancer Res *62*, 1876-1883.

Thullberg, M., Welcker, M., Bartkova, J., Kjerulff, A.A., Lukas, J., Hogberg, J., and Bartek, J. (2000). Monoclonal antibody probes for p21WAF1/CIP1 and the INK4 family of cyclindependent kinase inhibitors. Hybridoma *19*, 63-72.

Velimezi, G., Liontos, M., Vougas, K., Roumeliotis, T., Bartkova, J., Sideridou, M., Dereli-Oz, A., Kocylowski, M., Pateras, I.S., Evangelou, K., *et al.* (2013). Functional interplay between the DNA-damage-response kinase ATM and ARF tumour suppressor protein in human cancer. Nat Cell Biol *15*, 967-977.

Vernier, M., Bourdeau, V., Gaumont-Leclerc, M.F., Moiseeva, O., Begin, V., Saad, F., Mes-Masson, A.M., and Ferbeyre, G. (2011). Regulation of E2Fs and senescence by PML nuclear bodies. Genes Dev *25*, 41-50.

von Zglinicki, T., Saretzki, G., Ladhoff, J., di Fagagna, F.D., and Jackson, S.P. (2004). Human cell senescence as a DNA damage response. In 2nd International Conference on Functional Genomics of Ageing (Hersonissos, GREECE, Elsevier Sci Ireland Ltd), pp. 111-117.

Wajapeyee, N., Serra, R.W., Zhu, X., Mahalingam, M., and Green, M.R. (2008). Oncogenic BRAF Induces Senescence and Apoptosis through Pathways Mediated by the Secreted Protein IGFBP7. Cell *132*, 363-374.

Wang, X., Wong, S.C., Pan, J., Tsao, S.W., Fung, K.H., Kwong, D.L., Sham, J.S., and Nicholls, J.M. (1998a). Evidence of cisplatin-induced senescent-like growth arrest in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Cancer Res *58*, 5019-5022.

Wang, Z.G., Delva, L., Gaboli, M., Rivi, R., Giorgio, M., Cordon-Cardo, C., Grosveld, F., and Pandolfi, P.P. (1998b). Role of PML in cell growth and the retinoic acid pathway. Science 279, 1547-1551.

Wei, S., Wei, W., and Sedivy, J.M. (1999). Expression of Catalytically Active Telomerase Does Not Prevent Premature Senescence Caused by Overexpression of Oncogenic Ha-Ras in Normal Human Fibroblasts. Cancer Res *59*, 1539-1543.

Wu, W.S., Vallian, S., Seto, E., Yang, W.M., Edmondson, D., Roth, S., and Chang, K.S. (2001). The growth suppressor PML represses transcription by functionally and physically interacting with histone deacetylases. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 2259-2268.

Xu, M., Yu, Q., Subrahmanyam, R., Difilippantonio, M.J., Ried, T., and Sen, J.M. (2008). Beta-catenin expression results in p53-independent DNA damage and oncogene-induced senescence in prelymphomagenic thymocytes in vivo. Mol Cell Biol *28*, 1713-1723.

Xu, Z.-X., Timanova-Atanasova, A., Zhao, R.-X., and Chang, K.-S. (2003). PML Colocalizes with and Stabilizes the DNA Damage Response Protein TopBP1. Mol. Cell. Biol. *23*, 4247-4256.

Xue, W., Zender, L., Miething, C., Dickins, R.A., Hernando, E., Krizhanovsky, V., Cordon-Cardo, C., and Lowe, S.W. (2007). Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. Nature *445*, 656-660.

Yang, S., Jeong, J.H., Brown, A.L., Lee, C.H., Pandolfi, P.P., Chung, J.H., and Kim, M.K. (2006). Promyelocytic leukemia activates Chk2 by mediating Chk2 autophosphorylation. J Biol Chem *281*, 26645-26654.

Yang, S., Kuo, C., Bisi, J.E., and Kim, M.K. (2002). PML-dependent apoptosis after DNA damage is regulated by the checkpoint kinase hCds1/Chk2. Nat Cell Biol *4*, 865-870.

Ye, X., Zerlanko, B., Zhang, R., Somaiah, N., Lipinski, M., Salomoni, P., and Adams, P.D. (2007). Definition of pRB- and p53-dependent and -independent steps in HIRA/ASF1amediated formation of senescence-associated heterochromatin foci. Mol Cell Biol *27*, 2452-2465.

Yee, K.S., and Vousden, K.H. (2005). Complicating the complexity of p53. Carcinogenesis 26, 1317-1322.

Yeo, E.J., Hwang, Y.C., Kang, C.M., Kim, I.H., Kim, D.I., Parka, J.S., Choy, H.E., Park, W.Y., and Park, S.C. (2000). Senescence-like changes induced by hydroxyurea in human diploid fibroblasts. Exp Gerontol *35*, 553-571.

Zhang, R., Chen, W., and Adams, P.D. (2007). Molecular Dissection of Formation of Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci. Mol. Cell. Biol. *27*, 2343-2358.

Zhang, R., Poustovoitov, M.V., Ye, X., Santos, H.A., Chen, W., Daganzo, S.M., Erzberger, J.P., Serebriiskii, I.G., Canutescu, A.A., Dunbrack, R.L., *et al.* (2005). Formation of MacroH2A-Containing Senescence-Associated Heterochromatin Foci and Senescence Driven by ASF1a and HIRA. Developmental Cell *8*, 19-30.

Zhong, S., Muller, S., Ronchetti, S., Freemont, P.S., Dejean, A., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2000). Role of SUMO-1-modified PML in nuclear body formation. Blood *95*, 2748-2752. Zhu, J., Woods, D., McMahon, M., and Bishop, J.M. (1998). Senescence of human fibroblasts induced by oncogenic Raf. Genes Dev. *12*, 2997-3007.